Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (North)
Tuesday, 11th May, 2021 at 5.30 pm
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors:

Liz Kitchen (Chairman)
Karen Burgess (Vice-Chairman)
Matthew Allen
Andrew Baldwin
Tony Bevis
Toni Bradnum
Alan Britten
Peter Burgess
Roy Cornell
Christine Costin
Brian Donnelly
Ruth Fletcher
Billy Greening
Frances Haigh
Tony Hogben

Richard Landeryou
Gordon Lindsay
John Milne
Colin Minto
Christian Mitchell
Godfrey Newman
Louise Potter
Stuart Ritchie
David Skipp
Ian Stannard
Claire Vickers
Belinda Walters
Tricia Youtan

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 13 April 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take
such action thereon as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals

13 - 14

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/21/0109 - Land north of Slinfold Cricket Club, Lyons Road, Slinfold

15 - 44

Ward: Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham
Applicant: Kevin Morley and Slinfold Developments Ltd
7.

DC/21/0333 - Horsham Amateur Boxing Club, North Parade, Horsham

45 - 56

Ward: Denne
Applicant: Mr John Essex, Horsham Boxing Club
8.

DC/21/0137 - 4 Park Place, Horsham

57 - 70

Ward: Denne
Applicant: Nick Costin
9.

DC/20/2126 - Lower Broadbridge Farm, Bury Hill Landscape Supplies,
Billingshurst Road, Broadbridge Heath
Ward: Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham
Applicant: Mr Coles, Bury Hill Landscape Supplies

10.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

71 - 86

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (North)
13 APRIL 2021

Present:

Councillors: Liz Kitchen (Chairman), Karen Burgess (Vice-Chairman),
Matthew Allen, Andrew Baldwin, Tony Bevis, Toni Bradnum,
Peter Burgess, Christine Costin, Brian Donnelly, Ruth Fletcher,
Billy Greening, Frances Haigh, Tony Hogben, Richard Landeryou,
Gordon Lindsay, John Milne, Christian Mitchell, Louise Potter,
Stuart Ritchie, Ian Stannard, Claire Vickers, Belinda Walters and
Tricia Youtan

Apologies:
Absent:

Councillors: Alan Britten, Colin Minto and David Skipp
Councillors: Roy Cornell and Godfrey Newman

PCN/77 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 March were approved
as a correct record and would be signed by the Chairman.
PCN/78 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
DC/21/0207 – Councillor Stuart Ritchie declared a personal interest because he
had undertaken professional work for the applicant a number of years ago.
DC/21/0037 – Councillor Stuart Ritchie declared a personal interest because he
was acquainted with the owners of the café.
DC/21/0037 – Councillor Karen Burgess declared a prejudicial interest because
she knew the applicant. She withdrew from the meeting and took no part in the
determination of this item.
DC/21/0037 – Councillor Peter Burgess declared a prejudicial interest because
he knew the applicant. He withdrew from the meeting and took no part in the
determination of this item.
PCN/79 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements. The Chairman of the Council introduced a
minute’s silence to mark the recent death of HRH Prince Philip.
PCN/80 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.

1

Page 7

Planning Committee (North)
13 April 2021

PCN/81 DC/20/1840 - FORMER SWALLOWFIELDS NURSERY, CHURCH ROAD,
MANNINGS HEATH
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for seven dwellings, arranged around a central courtyard,
car-ports and garages with landscaping. The proposed housing mix comprised
one 2-bedroom, four 3-bedroom, one 4-bedroom and one 5-bedroom dwellings.
The proposal included access improvements, previously consented under
DC/17/1158, to widen the access junction and create a passing area in Church
Road. That permission, which had lapsed, had also included outline permission
for four large detached houses.
The application site was located west of Church Road in the southern end of
the built up area of Mannings Heath. The site was a former garden nursery and
there were a number of trees subject to TPOs along the western boundary.
Swallowfields House was a non-designated heritage asset adjacent to the
southern boundary.
The Parish Council raised no objection to the application. There had been 28
representations objecting to the application, two in support, and one
commenting on the proposal, as set out in the report.
An addendum had been circulated to Members detailing three additional
representations comprising: two letters of objection from neighbouring
residents; and a letter of objection from Save our Countryside, which raised a
number of points including concerns regarding non-compliance with Nuthurst
Design Statement and Neighbourhood Plan. The addendum included officers’
responses to these concerns.
The addendum also set out an additional recommended condition requiring
approved details of trees and planting to be retained.
Two members of the public spoke in objection to the application and the
applicant and the applicant’s architect addressed the Committee in support of
the proposal. A representative of the Parish Council spoke in support of the
application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; character and appearance, and its impact on the non-designated
heritage asset; amenity impacts; impact on landscape; ecology; climate change;
drainage; and highways.
Members discussed the need for mitigation measures to protect badgers and
other species and it was agreed that there should be further consultation with
the ecologist. Whilst it was noted that a majority of retained trees were outside
the developed part of the site, Members raised concerns regarding the future

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (North)
13 April 2021

3

protection of trees that would be within privately owned gardens. It was
therefore agreed that there would be further discussion with the arboricultural
team regarding the retention of trees.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1840 be determined by the Head of
Development & Building Control with a view to approval, subject to further
consideration of ecology impacts and the protection of trees, in
consultation with the Local Member.
PCN/82 DC/21/0207 - BEST PRACTICE IFA GROUP LTD, SUSSEX HOUSE, NORTH
STREET, HORSHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for the construction of two ground floor flats with associated
alterations. These alterations included windows and balconies on an additional
third floor, which was recently approved under prior approval application
DC/21/0236. The additional floor would accommodate eight flats and was
determined separately under the General Permitted Development Order; the
inclusion of side windows was not permitted under the prior approval process.
It was noted that, in the Planning History set out in the report, it should have
stated that DC/20/2389 and DC/20/2357 were refused on 25 January 2021 and
not November.
Members were advised of an amendment to the recommended Condition 9
regarding refuge storage, requiring further details of a larger bin store to be
submitted prior to occupation of the development.
The application site was located in the built-up area of Horsham. It was close to
the railway station on the southeast side of North Street, with access to undercroft parking. The building had been offices and works to convert the first and
second floors into flats, as approved under DC/20/103, was ongoing.
The Neighbourhood Council objected to the application. There had been 19
representations from 15 households objecting to the application, and an
objection from the Horsham Society as set out in the report. Since publication
of the report, an additional letter of objection has been received siting highways
and overdevelopment impacts.
Two members of the public spoke in objection to the application. The applicant
and the applicant’s consultant both spoke in support of the proposal. A
representative of the Parish Council spoke in objection to the proposal.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; impact on trees; amenity; and highways

Page3 9

Planning Committee (North)
13 April 2021

and parking. Members were in agreement that the proposed development
would be preferable to those currently going through the appeal process.
Members noted concerns regarding overlooking and were satisfied that the
positioning of the third floor windows would not have a detrimental impact on
neighbouring amenity. In order to ensure that the flat-roof area beyond the
south-facing windows was not used as an amenity space, it was agreed that an
addition condition be included to ensure these had restricted opening.
Members discussed the on-site parking provision and whether it was
acceptable, given the limited on-street parking in this sustainable location. It
was agreed that the parking layout should be revised, together with the location
and design of the cycle parking.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0207 be granted subject to the following
revisions to the conditions:
i)

Conditions 8 & 10: combined into one condition to require revised
details of landscaping, parking layout and cycle storage locations. To
be submitted for approval prior to commencement, with details to be
agreed in consultation with Local Members.

ii)

Condition 9: amended to require revised refuse storage details to be
submitted for approval prior to occupation to allow larger store.

iii) An additional condition requiring details of window openings to top
floor facing south to be submitted, to prevent the use of flat roof area
as an amenity area.
PCN/83 DC/21/0037 - KAYA CAFE, THE STABLE BLOCK, NORTH STREET,
HORSHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this retrospective
application sought permission for the retention of two freestanding pergolas
adjacent to the east and west of The Stable Block, a Grade II Listed Building.
The proposal provided additional covering and seating for those using the café.
Members were advised of an amendment to the recommended Condition 3 so
that external lighting and heating would be restricted to the café’s opening
hours.
The application site was located within Horsham Park to the north of North
Street. It was between the public car park on North Street and a main
thoroughfare through the park. The café was northeast of Park House, a Grade
II* Listed Building.

Page 410

Planning Committee (North)
13 April 2021

5

The Neighbourhood Council objected to the application. There had been five
representations from four households objecting to the application and two
letters from one household in support, as set out in the report. Since
publication of the report, a further five letters of support and one in objection
had been received. Both the Horsham Society and Friends of Horsham Park
objected to the application.
One member of the public, representing Friends of Horsham Park, spoke in
objection to the application and the applicant and the applicant’s agent both
addressed the Committee in support of the proposal. A representative of the
Neighbourhood Council spoke in objection of the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; impact on the setting of the Grade II
Listed Building; and amenity impacts.
Members discussed the visual impact of the pergolas on the setting of the listed
buildings, and their amenity impact on the footpath and seating area. Some
Members were concerned that the benefits did not outweigh the harm to the
setting and was contrary to paragraphs 194 and 196 of the National Planning
Policy Framework and paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of policy 34 (Cultural and Heritage
Assets) of the Horsham District Planning Framework. It was therefore
proposed and seconded that the application be refused. The motion was lost.
In response to concerns that the applicant may consider further changes to the
existing structure, it was agreed that an additional informative be added to the
decision notice advising the applicant to seek the advice of the Planning
Department prior to any further changes to the permitted pergolas.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0037 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported, subject to an amendment to Condition 3 as follows:
The external lighting and heating hereby permitted shall only be used
during the opening hours of the café.
PCN/84 TPO/1541 - 202 ST LEONARDS ROAD, HORSHAM
The Head of Development reported that this application sought to confirm Tree
Preservation Order (TPO) 1541. The provisional TPO had been served on an
oak tree in the rear garden of 202 St Leonards Road, Horsham.
During the consultation period, one letter of representation had been received
objecting to confirmation of the TPO.
Members considered the officer’s assessment of the tree, which was an old
field-edge tree pre-dating development of the area with sufficient amenity value

Page5 11

Planning Committee (North)
13 April 2021

to require formal protection. It was noted that ownership of the property was
likely to change so that pro-active protection of the tree was advisable, as
advised in Planning Practice Guidance: Tree Preservation Orders and trees in
Conservation Area (2014).
RESOLVED
That TPO 1541 be confirmed for the reasons as reported.

The meeting closed at 8.54 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 612

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (NORTH)
Date: 11th May 2021
Report on Appeals: 30th March – 27th April 2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Date
Lodged

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Ref No.

Site

EN/19/0546

The Studio, Ash Place,
Two Mile Ash, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH13 0PG

08-Apr-21 Notice served

DC/20/2463

Lower Batchelors, Emms Lane,
Barns Green, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH13 0QH

08-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/1650

Stonehouse Farm,
Handcross Road,
Plummers Plain, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH13 6NZ

12-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

2.

N/A

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

Sussex House,
North Street,
DC/20/1696 Horsham,
West Sussex

Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Written
Representation

Prior Approval
13-Apr-21 Required and
REFUSED

Land Adjacent To
Coombe Cottage,
Church Road,
DC/20/1851 Mannings Heath,
Horsham,
West Sussex,
RH13 6JE

Written
Representation

13-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Garden Corner,
Blackhouse Road,
DC/20/1350 Colgate, Horsham,
West Sussex,
RH13 6HS

Written
Representation

15-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Station Studio,
13B Station Road,
DC/20/2194 Horsham,
West Sussex,
RH13 5EZ

Written
Representation

15-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Page 13

N/A

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

DC/20/0576

Norfolk Lodge Care
Home,
9 Norfolk Road,
Horsham,
West Sussex,
RH12 1BZ

Written
Appeal
Representation Allowed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Written
Appeal
Representation Allowed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/2103

Pump House,
Dorking Road,
Warnham,
West Sussex,
RH12 3RY

Page 14

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

11 May 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Outline application for erection of up to 24 dwellings (including eight
affordable units), the demolition of the existing cricket pavilion and
replacement with a new one and a half storey cricket pavilion including the
provision of 25 car parking spaces, and associated landscaping and
highways works with access from Lyons Road, with all matters reserved
except access.

SITE:

Land North of Slinfold Cricket Club Lyons Road Slinfold Horsham West
Sussex RH13 0RX

WARD:

Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0109

APPLICANT:

Name: Kevin Morley and Slinfold Developments Ltd Address: Please
Refer To Agent Coles Yard Barn North Lane Clanfield Hampshire PO8
0RN

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
By request of Councillor Youtan
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve outline planning permission subject to appropriate conditions
and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement. In the event that
the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision
of this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse
permission on the grounds of failure to secure the obligations necessary
to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

Outline planning consent is sought for the erection of up to 24 dwellings, including the
provision of 33% affordable housing (providing 8 onsite units), with all matters except for
access being reserved for later consideration. The proposal also includes the demolition and

Contact Officer: Robert Hermitage

Page 15

Tel: 01403 215382

redevelopment of the existing cricket pavilion, with associated parking, landscaping and
highways works. Space is also included along the southern boundary of the adjacent cricket
ground for the provision of ball-stop netting for the cricket club, details of which are reserved
for later consideration.
1.2

The site would be accessed via an existing track from the north of Lyons Road – the track is
currently under private ownership and has been proposed to be upgraded for vehicular traffic
and use as a Right of Way. The indicative layout includes a central green space with trees,
parking and landscaping travelling to the north of the site. The housing is divided by the
central greenspace into two distinct parcels of housing: to the west, housing is set on
reasonably sized plots, with detached dwellings with garaging sited to the northern side, and
a terrace of houses and flats to the southern side, and; to the east, the housing is organised
within a barn courtyard arrangement, two storeys in height.

1.3

The proposal also includes works to the highway on Lyons Road, comprising widening of the
existing access road to the site, and the creation of a wider carriageway north to the site
itself. A new linking section of footpath would link the carriageway to a dropped kerb crossing
west of the entrance bellmouth necessitating two small breaks in the hedgerow that runs
alongside. In order to attain the necessary visibility splays to the access onto Lyons Road,
the Lyons Road carriageway is to be moved south by 0.7m at its maximum extent, and the
footways and grassed verges to both sides of the road adjusted accordingly.

1.4

A previous outline application (DC/19/1386) for the development of 24 dwellings was refused
at the November 2020 planning committee north for the following reason:
1. The scale of the proposed site access works from and on Lyons Road would result in an
unacceptably hard and urbanising impact on the rural character of Lyons Road, contrary
to Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and Policy 8
of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (2018).

1.5

This application seeks to address this reason and has amended the highway access work
accordingly as described above. All other aspects of the proposal remain as per the previous
scheme. To clarify the main changes to the highway access scheme include:
 Reduction in width of the access road from 5.5m to 4.8m, with a narrower 3.7m wide
central section.
 Removal of the previously proposed footpath west of the hedge alongside the access
road, with the new access road to become a shared surface road for pedestrians and
vehicles. The shared surface road to become a ‘permissive’ right of way for pedestrians.
 Retention of the hedgerow along the western side of the access road, with the exception
of two small sections to allow for a short length of pedestrian footway linking to a new
dropped kerb west of the bellmouth. All main trees along the western side of the access
road to be retained, and a further 11 new trees planted (as previous).
 Lyons Road to be indented south by 0.7m at its maximum extent rather than 1.1m as
previously proposed.
 Dropped kerb crossing to Lyons Road be installed east of the bellmouth to provide
improved access to the existing bus stop.
 Retention of the grassed verges to the southern footway alongside Lyons Road

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.6

The application relates to a 1.2hectare parcel of land located to the north of Slinfold cricket
club on Lyons Road, Slinfold. The site currently hosts two large detached agricultural storage
barns, constructed of blockwork, timber cladding, and a corrugated metal roof, including large
areas of hardstanding to the east. To the west, the site is laid to grass with fencing and

Page 16

hedges to its boundaries. Two detached converted barns (now offices) are located to the
north of the site, though are not included within the development area of this application.
1.7

The site is on the edge, though included within the built-up area boundary of Slinfold. Slinfold
cricket ground and pavilion are sited to the south of the site, with open fields sited to the
immediate north and east.

1.8

The Slinfold Conservation Area is located immediately to the west and is formed of dwellings
and commercial premises of varying size, styles and character. A number of listed buildings
are located within the Conservation Area with the nearest (Grade II listed The Old Bakery,
The Old Post Office, and Slinfold House) set some 52m from the western boundary of the
site beyond an existing non-listed building (The Garden House). Grade II listed St Peters
Church sits 100m west of the site. More contemporary (20th century) housing is located to
the south of Lyons Road and the Conservation Area.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (September 2017)
Slinfold Conservation Area Appraisal (September 2020)

Page 17

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Slinfold Parish Neighbourhood Plan (Made, January 2018)
Policy 1 - Conservation Area
Policy 4 - Conserve and Enhance Biodiversity
Policy 5 - Development Principles
Policy 6 - Housing Mix
Policy 8 - Crosby Farm
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SF/40/59

Pavilion
Comment: b.regs
(From old Planning History)
Pavilion
(From old Planning History)
Proposed erection of implement garage
(From old Planning History)
Extn of existing club house providing two new
changing rooms, showers
(From old Planning History)
Outline: 12 houses village hall complex &
parking (From old Planning History)
Retention of cricket nets on concrete base
Site: Pavilion Lyons Road Slinfold
Installation of patio
Site: Pavilion Lyons Road Slinfold

Application Permitted on
26.08.1959

DC/19/1387

Relocation of agricultural barns

Application Refused on
27.11.2020

DC/19/1386

Outline application for the erection of up to 24 Application Refused on
dwellings, including eight affordable units, with 04.11.2020
access from Lyons Road, landscaping and
associated works, and the demolition of the
existing cricket pavilion and replacement with
new two-storey cricket pavilion and provision of
25 car parking spaces. All matters reserved
except for assess.

DC/21/0498

Full application for the erection of 24 dwellings Pending Consideration
including eight affordable units, demolition of
exiting and erection of replacement cricket
pavilion with associated storage and car park,
accessed from Lyons Road, including all
associated works.

SF/32/61
SF/46/66
SF/44/70

SF/46/74
SF/54/95
SF/7/03

Application Permitted on
13.09.1961
Application Permitted on
16.09.1966
Application Permitted on
13.11.1970
Application Refused on
25.04.1975
Application Permitted on
07.02.1996
Application Permitted on
02.04.2003

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk

Page 18

INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Landscape Architect: No Objection
(summary) – With regards to the changes made to the access proposals including narrowing
of the access with retention of the existing hedge, landscape is happy with the revisions
submitted.
We appreciate this is an outline application and would therefore ask for landscape to be
conditioned. Within our comments, there is a view to recommending an upsize of standard
trees proposed along access road and evidence of best arboricultural methods to
construction of footpath around the retained memorial trees, from Lyons Road through to the
access road.
HDC Conservation: No Objection
(summary) – The changes to the setting of the Conservation Area by development of the
scale proposed would result in a less than positive change to its semi-rural character. The
proposed development would change the setting of the Conservation Area, and cannot be
considered to result in no harm. However, the current scheme would be considered to be at
the lower end of less than substantial harm as set out in paragraph 196 of the NPPF. I am
aware that there may be public benefit that would outweigh this harm. I am also aware that
the site is designated for housing within the ‘made’ Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.
Due to the position of the heritage assets and the existing boundary treatment I am of the
opinion that overall the proposal would not harm the fabric of the identified listed buildings
nor their individual close and intimate settings. The proposal would however, due to its scale
and layout change the wider setting in which the assets are experienced and for that reason
it can be said that the harm would be less than substantial as per paragraph 196 of the NPPF.
The level of harm within the setting of the listed buildings would be towards the lower end of
the scale of less than substantial. Again, this harm should be weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal.
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
(summary) – suggested conditions (attached).
HDC Housing: Comment
(summary) – The applicant has proposed a development consisting of 24 dwellings with 8
units being proposed as affordable housing. This equates to 33.3% provision, just under the
required 35% as set out in the HDPF. Housing Officers would ideally like to see an additional
unit proposed as affordable housing, or a financial contribution equating to 0.4 unit to make
the scheme policy compliant. Housing Officers would support the application on the basis of
an increase of affordable housing provision to ensure the development is policy compliant.
HDC Drainage Engineer: No Objection
(summary) – suggested conditions and informatives.
HDC Arboricultural Officer: No Objection
(summary) – None of the trees interacted for removal as part of this proposal are considered
to be specimens with any especial or particular merit. The site layout as proposed allows for
minimal encroachment into the root protection areas of the tree due to be retained. The
proposed site layout plans show that a new footpath will be installed at the next entrance to
the site from Lyons Road running northwards through the cricket field. This path would be
situated to the west of T36, as shown on the supporting tree survey. To the west of T36 is a
row of mature pine trees, it is clear from the plan that the new footpath would be situated
within the RPA of T36 and the adjacent pine tree to the west. While it is possible to build a
footpath within the RPA of a tree, this would need to be constructed using a no-dig aboveground construction method to minimise any potential harm to the trees root system. I would
recommend that this is secured by condition.

Page 19

OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
Final comments 26 April 2021: No objection
The Road Safety Audit (RSA) recommended that a new crossing of Lyons Road be installed
to allow pedestrians to reach the existing bus stop. The Designer instead proposed to
relocate the bus stop to the west side of the access. As the location could not be 15m or
more from the junction it was advised that the bus stop stay where it is but a new linking
footway provided with crossing of Lyons Road. The Designer has clarified that there is
insufficient land ownership to provide the footway link from site access to bus stop.
Furthermore, the RSA did not raise an issue with pedestrians from the development having
to cross the road twice and it is considered that the proposed solution meets with the RSA
recommendation. The LHA is also mindful of the existing bus stop at The Red Lyon on The
Street which can be reached via the link to PROW bordering north of site. This stop has a
shelter and may be a preferable route and stop for some. The crossing of Lyons Road to the
bus stop is now show away from the Mitchell Gardens tactile paving.
The gateway feature is to be removed as another already exists to the east on Lyons Road.
The Local Highway Authority does not consider that the proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Initial comments 5 March 2021: Comment
(Summary) The existing access point to Lyons Road will be modified to provide 6m radii
bellmouth junction. Previously, separate footway was also proposed abutting the western
side of the access road. These arrangements have been modified to provide an internal
private footway which will lead directly to tactile paving dropped kerb point adjacent Lyons
Road, providing a crossing point to the existing footway on the southern side of Lyons Road.
The existing fencing, which acts as a village gateway feature, will be relocated and details of
where this will be relocated to should be provided at this stage. As per the previous
application, modifications to Mitchell Gardens are also proposed including new tactile paving
dropped kerb point to aid pedestrian movement.
Vehicle visibility splays of 2.4m by 56m to the east and west have been demonstrated, in line
with the 85th percentile recorded speeds of 36mph for eastbound traffic and 35mph for
westbound traffic. These speeds would require splays of 56m and 54m respectively, in line
with Manual for Streets (MfS) co-efficient's for calculating Stopping Sight Distance. The
splays have been drawn to a 1m offset from the carriageway edge. MfS paragraph 7.7.3
states that vehicles will normally be travelling a distance from the kerb line and thus when
considering the track of a vehicle, the offset is acceptable.
In order to achieve safe and suitable access and the required splays, the existing kerbline of
Lyons Road is to be moved southwards by approx. 0.7m (as opposed to 1m as per previous
application). This will maintain a width of approx. 5.4m in vicinity of the site access. As per
MfS paragraph 6.5.7 Streets on bus routes should not generally be less than 6.0 m wide
(although this could be reduced on short sections with good inter-visibility between opposing
flows). Whilst this guidance is intended for new streets, it is also worth noting the existing
variation in width of Lyons Road and sufficient forward visibility of Lyons Road in this location.
No objection would be raised to the road width as indicated for this section of Lyons Road.
A new Road Safety Audit has been undertaken on the updated proposals. The single point
raised related to the eastbound bus stop on north side of Lyons Road which would require
pedestrians to walk in the carriageway. The auditor recommended that a new uncontrolled

Page 20

crossing be provided on east side of access road/ Mitchell Gardens junctions. The Designer
has responded that this is an existing issue for all pedestrians wishing to reach eastbound
bus stop. Nevertheless, the bus stop has been relocated to west side of the site junction with
Lyons Road so that the new footway crossing can be used to access this. The LHA have
sought the view of the WSCC Local Transport Improvements Officer. Whilst there is no
objection in principle to the relocation being west side of junction, it is advised that it be 15m
away from junction to allow vehicles to be able to see traffic along Lyons Road in either
direction. It is therefore advised that the footway is extended and bus stop shown 15+ metres
from the junction. The Designer should also supply the updated plan and response to the
auditor to check whether this satisfies the point raised.
In principle the LHA consider there no transport grounds to resist the application, on the basis
of the following:
 Relocate bus stop (by extending footway) 15m from junction then check with auditor that
this addresses the issue raised in the RSA.
 Proposed relocation site for the fencing/village gateway to be provided so the LHA can
advise the suitability of this.
Ecology Consultant: No Objection
(summary) – We have reviewed the Revised Design and Access Statement (Neame Sutton
Limited, March 2021). We note that the amendments to the proposed housing mix and roads
will not further affect the ecologically sensitive features of the site.
Previous comments DC/19/1386:
We have reviewed the Updated Ecological Assessment (Ecosupport Ltd, October 2020)
supplied by the applicant, relating to the likely impacts of development on designated sites,
protected & Priority habitats and species, particularly bats and slow worms and identification
of proportionate mitigation. We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information
available for determination.
Southern Water: No Objection
(summary) suggested informative (attached)
WSCC Flood Risk Management: No Objection
(summary) – The FRA/Drainage Impact Assessment included with this application state that
Sustainable Drainage techniques (permeable paving/below ground attenuation) would be
used to control the surface water runoff from the site. These methods would, in principle,
meet the requirements of the NPPF and associated guidance documents. Appropriate
planning conditions should be applied.
WSCC Rights of Way: Comment
Final comments 26 April 2021:
I note that the applicant is proposing providing permissive access along the access road to
the development. It is proposed that this will be the main access route for pedestrians,
cyclists and motor vehicles to access the development and farm, although it is understood
that the cricket club has alternative pedestrian access and that Footpath 1440_3
There are two elements to this
(i) the route will not provide a segregated pedestrian route but will be an unsegregated
surface shared between all user groups.
(ii) The applicant is proposing to provide permissive access along the route and not to
dedicate it.
If this meets your test for sustainable access, and given that the previous proposal for a
dedicated footpath failed, I would consider it better to secure permissive access than no
public access at all.

Page 21

I would therefore suggest that we seek a s106 condition to secure a Permissive Path
Agreement between the landowner and WSCC for a period of, say, 20-years. Maintenance
of the route and its surface would fall to the landowner and not WSCC.
The path should be signed Permissive Footpath at either end – at its junction with Lyons
Road and at its junction with Footpath 1440_3 and Footpath 1441. WSCC would arrange
for the signs to be supplied and installed at the applicant’s expense.

Initial comments 15 April 2021:
No reference has been made as to whether the shared access road is intended to be
dedicated as a public right of way, as had previously been requested. This should be clarified.
It would appear that no consideration has been given to the needs of pedestrians using the
access road, other than the use of the word "shared" which may or may not refer to the
sharing of the road by user type or the sharing of the road for different types of access, i.e.
cricket club, farm and residential. Whatever the meaning of the "shared access road" there
appears to be no segregated pedestrian access to link the development to Lyons Road, its
facilities and onward connectivity of the footway network. As previously advised in respect of
planning application DC/19/1386, I suggest to the Local Planning Authority that, in
accordance with Horsham Planning Framework Policy 40, the proposed development should
provide connections for pedestrians from Lyons Road, through the development, to link to
Public Footpaths 1440_3 & 1441 and for surface improvements to be made to Public
Footpath 1440_3.
WSCC Minerals and Waste: No Objection
(summary) – The submitted MRA details that an overriding need for non-mineral
development can be demonstrated as the application site is identified within the Slinfold
Neighbourhood Plan as an allocated housing site. The Note continues to propose that prior
extraction is neither practicable nor environmentally feasible as a result of the proximity of
the site to the Slinfold Conservation Area, and its limited commercial viability due the small
site area and abundance of Weald Clay within the county.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.2

38 letters of representation have been received from 26 separate addressed objecting to the
proposal on the following grounds:
 Overdevelopment
 More dwellings are proposed that initially promised
 Unnecessary and harmful proposed highways works
 Urbanising impact on the landscape
 Increased activity in a rural location
 Inadequate parking provision
 Housing will not be ‘affordable’
 Little has changed since the first refused proposal
 Loss of public footpaths
 Adverse impact on memorial trees
 Unsuitable housing mix
 Adverse impact on conservation area
 Impact on important vistas
 Proposal missing vital documentation
 Misdirecting CGI imagery
 Adverse loss of trees
 Adverse impact on local wildlife
 Increased pressure on local services and utilities
 The proposal would open adjacent fields for future development

Page 22










Loss of private views
The barn relocation must be considered
Uncharacteristic access
Adverse impact neighbouring amenity
Increase risk of flooding
Two pedestrian crossings across Lyons Road is preposterous
Footpath impinges in root zone of memorial Oak tree
No village gateway sign east of the site

3.3

2 letters of representation have been received from 2 separate addresses neither objecting
nor supporting the proposal, commenting:
 Concerns over loss of views / diminished experience on footpaths
 Potential impact on local wildlife
 Potentially dangerous access
 Insufficient parking for new pavilion

3.4

67 letters of representation have been received from 61 separate addresses supporting the
proposal on the following grounds:
 The site is allocated within the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan
 The proposal would deliver needed affordable homes in the village
 The proposal would deliver a needed upgrade to the cricket pavilion
 Upgraded footpaths are needed
 The site is an appropriate location
 The proposal has resolved traffic / access issues previously raised
 Proposals are in-keeping with the overall aesthetic of the village
 The site is located within a sustainable location
 The proposal would give many additional benefits to the village

3.5

Slinfold Parish Council: Comment
(summary)
1. The Parish Council has no objection to the proposed revised access arrangements subject
to confirmation that visibility at the bell mouth is reviewed and meets the required safety
standards; and;
2. The Parish Council accepts the principle of development, subject to the following: i) A maximum of 24 dwellings, subject to detailed design considerations which should
include houses of no more than 1.5 stories in height.
ii) A condition on the detail of the Public Rights of Way plans and that the much valued
Trotter Oak is protected given the proximity of the footpath to the root protection area.
HDC’s Tree Officer should report back on this matter.
iii) Assurance and commitment from the developer to construction of the cricket
pavilion and assurance from HDC that they will re-visit conditioning this construction.
iv) The pavilion to be a maximum of 1.5 stories in height as recently stated in a
communication from Antler Homes.
v) The final detailed design is in line with (or an improvement on) the Antler Homes
presentation to the Parish Council on 10th February.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 23

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of the Development

6.1

The application site is located within the built-up area boundary of Slinfold, and is allocated
for development within the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan 2014-2031 (Policy 8: Crosby Farm).

6.2

Policy 3 (Development Hierarchy) of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF)
states that development will be permitted within town and villages which have defined builtup area. The policy establishes the District’s settlement hierarchy, in which the settlement of
Slinfold has been characterised as a medium village – this is defined as a settlement with a
moderate range of services and facilities, community networks and local employment
provision, and also benefits from some access to public transport.

6.3

Policy 15 (Housing Provision) of the HDPF establishes the District’s housing need within the
development plan period (2011-2031). This has been identified as 16,000 homes. Criterion
(4) of the policy states that part of this provision is expected to be delivered through
neighbourhood planning, amounting to 1,500 homes over the plan period.

6.4

Policy 8 (Crosby Farm) of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (SNP) states that residential
development on this site will be supported where:
1. The design positively responds to the prevailing character of the surrounding area;
2. The houses are no more than two storeys in height to reflect the local vernacular
3. Proposals allow for the retention of existing mature trees and hedges;
4. Proposals creates a Public Rights of Way to link the site to the existing Public Rights
of Way, and;
5. The site facilitates the development of a new cricket pavilion

6.5

The subsequent sections will detail how the proposal has demonstrated to accord with
criterion (1) – (5) of this policy.

6.6

Given the location of the site within a built-up area, and the site’s allocation within the SNP,
there is no objection in principle to the development of this site for housing. Consideration
must therefore be given to any site-specific constraints, and the detail of the scheme. As
such, the principle of development on the site is considered to be acceptable, subject to the
detailed considerations as set out below.
Affordable Housing and Housing Mix

6.7

Policy 16 of the HDPF states that development should provide a mix of housing sizes, types,
and tenures to meet the needs of the district’s communities as evidenced in the latest Market
Housing Mix study (Iceni, November 2019) in order to create sustainable and balanced
communities. Table 66 of the study shows that residential development market housing
should comprise the suggested mix:
 1 bedroom housing – 6%
 2 bedroom housing – 27%
 3 bedroom housing – 41%
 4+ bedroom housing – 26%

6.8

Policy 16 of the HDPF continues to state that development providing 15 or more dwellings
the Council will require 35% of the dwellings to be affordable. The proposal includes an on-

Page 24

site affordable housing provision of 8 dwellings, equivalent to 33% of the proposed dwellings.
In order for the development to be policy compliant, the additional 2% will be required to be
provided to the Council by way of financial contribution, and has been drafted into the Section
106 Legal Agreement. For affordable housing, the study shows that residential development
should comprise:
 1 bedroom housing – 26% (shared ownership) and 46% (rented)
 2 bedroom housing – 42% (shared ownership) and 30% (rented)
 3 bedroom housing – 25% (shared ownership) and 22% (rented)
 4+ bedroom housing – 7% (shared ownership) and 2% (rented)
6.9

Policy 6 (Housing Mix) of the SNP states that developments which provide a suitable mix of
one, two, three and four bed dwellings will be supported. This also includes centrally located
level sites suited to older residents.

6.10

The application seeks consent for the erection of up to 24 dwellings comprising 16 market
units and 8 affordable. The proposed housing mix would comprise:
Dwelling Type
1 Bedroom Units
2 Bedroom Units
3 Bedroom Units
4+ Bedroom Units

Market
0
2
8
6

%age
0%
13%
44%
44%

Affordable
2
3
2
1

%age
0%
75%
25%
0%

6.11

This mix has been amended from the previous mix proposed to now include 2x one-bed
affordable flats and one four-bed house at the expense of 3 three-bed houses. This revisions
provide a better mix of housing including smaller units in line with the Housing Mix study
targets. The final housing mix would be formally agreed and secured at the reserved matters
stage. Overall, the proposed housing mix as currently presented is considered to
appropriately comply with the Council’s expectations for a residential development of this
quantum and is therefore considered in accordance with Policy 16 of the HDPF.

6.12

The affordable housing tenure would be split at a ratio of 70:30 in favour of affordable rent,
as per the requirements of Policy 16 of the HDPF and the accompanying Planning
Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD. A Section 106 legal agreement has been drafted
to secure the provision, the tenure of the affordable housing, and the registered provider who
will take on the site.

6.13

With the above in mind, the proposed affordable housing provision is considered
appropriately compliant with Policy 16 of the HDPF.
Layout, Amount, Scale and Appearance

6.14

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that good design is a key element in sustainable development,
and seeks to ensure that development promotes a high standard of urban design,
architecture and landscape. Policy 33 of the HDPF states that development proposals should
make efficient use of land, integrate effectively with the character of the surrounding area,
use high quality and appropriate materials, retain landscaping where feasible (and mitigate
loss if necessary) and ensure no conflict with the character of the surrounding town or
landscape.

6.15

The proposal seeks outline consent with all matters except for highways access reserved for
later consideration. Therefore, matters relating to layout, appearance, scale and landscaping
are to be dealt with at the reserved matters stage. However, the application is accompanied
with a relatively detailed indicative proposed site layout in order to provide assurance that 24
dwellings can be appropriately delivered on this site.

Page 25

6.16

Representations received during the course of this application have raised concern at the
proposed quantum and density of development for this site. Whilst Policy 8 of the SNP (and
housing allocations in the Plan in general) does not specifically allocate a housing number
for this site, it is noted that the initial submission draft neighbourhood plan stated ‘up to 24
dwellings’. Furthermore, at paragraph 4.9 of the Examiner’s report, the Examiner agreed with
Horsham District Council that the overall allocation of housing in the Neighbourhood Plan (at
some 77 dwellings, toward the upper end of the identified range of housing need) was in
proportion to the scale and size of the village and its function. Collectively the allocations will
deliver these new housing numbers. As a result, the applicant’s proposal for 24 dwellings on
this site is considered proportionate to the evidence base that supported this site’s allocation
for housing development.

6.17

As previous, the indicative layout splits the site into two distinctive parcels of housing
separated by a central greenway, with the form and character of the housing to the east
taking on a more rural aesthetic to address the transition of this site from the village into the
countryside. The buildings indicated are two storey and are indicated to reflect the material
finishes that characterise Slinfold, including red brick and clay tiles.

6.18

In respect of the adjacent Conservation Area, the Slinfold Conservation Area Appraisal
(September 2020) states that ‘Within the Conservation Area there are a variety of building
materials and building types which add a diversity of style which are unified by the scale of
development and the use of local/natural materials. As noted in the brief history of Slinfold
above, the village has evolved slowly and consequently the buildings can be grouped into
three main styles – medieval, Georgian and Victorian’. It continues to state that dwellings are
formed of a use of ‘natural materials’ and comprises a variety of house types and designs. It
would be expected that the final details are reserved matters stage reflect this Appraisal to
ensure the historic core of the village is suitably preserved.
Heritage Impacts

6.19

Section 66 of the Town and Country (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
provides a statutory requirement for decision makers to have special regard to the desirability
of preserving a listed building or its setting. Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning
(Listed Building and Conservations Areas) Act requires that development should preserve or
enhance the character or appearance of the [conservation] area. Chapter 16 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) follows these statutory provisions and seeks to positively
manage changes to the historic environment to ensure sufficient flexibility whilst conserving
the important and irreplaceable nature of the designated asset.

6.20

Policy 34 of the HDPF states that development affecting the setting of a Conservation Area
will be required to (amongst others) reinforce the special character of the district's historic
environment through appropriate siting, scale, form and design; including the use of
traditional materials and techniques; make a positive contribution to the character and
distinctiveness of the area.

6.21

The indicative layout has been produced in close consultation with the Council’s Senior
Conservation Officer (during the consideration of the previous application DC/19/1386) in
order to demonstrate that the proposed 24 dwellings are capable of having an acceptable
impact on the adjacent Conservation Area and Grade II listed buildings.

6.22

The Senior Conservation Officer remains satisfied that the indicative layout would mitigate
most of the harm to the Conservation Area and setting of the listed buildings, to the extent
that the resultant harm would be at the lower end of ‘less than substantial’. In reaching this
conclusion, the Senior Conservation Officer has advised that the very allocation of this site
for housing will inevitably lead to some harm to the conservation area and setting of these
listed buildings, therefore the key consideration is whether a layout can be provided that best

Page 26

minimises this harm. In this case officers are satisfied that the indicative layout shows that to
be the case.
6.23

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF (2019) states that ‘less than substantial harm’ to heritage assets
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. The following public benefits
include (but are not limited to):
 The provision of market housing (16 units)
 The provision of affordable housing (8 units)
 The delivery of an allocated site within an adopted neighbourhood plan
 Upgrading the existing PROW to the north of the site
 An additional PROW traveling north into the site from Lyons Road
 The provision of public open space

6.24

In this instance the public benefits to the scheme are considered to outweigh the harm
identified when applying the test of NPPF paragraph 196.

6.25

Overall, officers consider that the site can suitably accommodate up to 24 dwellings and be
designed to appropriately to integrate with the surrounding area without causing
unacceptable harm to the adjacent conservation area or the setting of the nearby listed
buildings. The low level of heritage harm that is identified is capable of being outweighed by
the public benefits of the development as outlined above. Officers are therefore satisfied that
criterion (1) and (2) of the SNP Policy 8 could be achieved at the detailed design stage, and
that Policies 32, 33 and 34 of the NPPF would not be conflicted.

6.26

The proposed replacement Cricket Pavilion would replace the existing pavilion and is
indicated to include a slightly larger floor plan that would include an additional storey. No
indicative designs of the replacement pavilion have been provided as this aspect is reserved
for later consideration. Concerns have been raised in the representations over the Pavilion’s
potential size, however these details will be secured at the reserved matters stage and would
be expected to suitably relate to the character of the area in scale and form, including its
impact on the conservation area and setting of nearby listed buildings. It is noted that the
Parish Council have requested that a condition be attached restricting the size of the pavilion
to 1.5 storeys, however there is no evidence that this is strictly necessary to preserve the
character of the site at this stage of proceedings. As the proposal facilitates the development
of the replacement Cricket Pavilion to the south, the principle of criterion (5) of SNP Policy 8
is therefore considered to have been satisfied.
Landscape and Arboricultural Impacts

6.27

Matters relating to the landscaping of the site itself are reserved for later consideration.
However, during the course of the previous application considerable discussion was had as
to retaining as many of the trees alongside the access road as possible. Further to the plans
considered under DC/19/1386, the revised proposals for the access road and junction now
retain all the trees west of the existing access road, with the exception of a small category C
Common Beech (T35) which sits between the roadside and hedgerow. The loss of this tree
was accepted under the previous application and there is no reason not to reach the same
conclusion under this submission.

6.28

The applicant has further clarified that 11 new trees are to be planted alongside the hedgerow
and that two trees previously earmarked for removal to facilitate the PROW footpath are also
now to be retained. It is noted that the access road and new footway link to the west side will
encroach into the root protection areas of two tree either side of the bellmouth including the
large Pedunculate Oak (T36) that is of high amenity value to the area.

6.29

These trees are assessed under the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) (prepared by
Broad Oak Tree Consultant ltd, dated December 2018) submitted under the previous

Page 27

application and this assessment is considered to remain relevant. The Council’s
Arboricultural Officer has been consulted on the proposal, and has raised no objection to the
scheme, stating that the majority of the trees on or abutting this site are of no especial or
particular merit, and therefore does not raise objection subject to no-dig foundations being
used to protect T36. This is secured by condition.
6.30

With regards to the proximity of built form to retained trees, the site layout has been devised
to minimise encroachment into the root protection areas (RPA) of these trees. The Council’s
Arboricultural Officer had previously expressed favour of the method that the large RPA of
T5 (a large mature Oak on the northern site boundary) has been allotted suitable and
satisfactory space to allow its continued expansion in size, as well as offering respect to its
high level of amenity value.

6.31

In respect of the landscape impact of the access junction itself, under the previous proposal,
DC/19/1386, a number of concerns were raised regarding the appearance of the access into
the site from Lyons Road by the Parish Council and local residents, and the urbanising
impact the proposed works would have on the approach to the village. This resulted in the
refusal of planning permission in November of 2020.

6.32

In response the applicants have revised the proposals as set out in paragraph 1.5 above.
The narrowing of the access road and removal of the separate north-south footpath allows
for the full retention of the hedgerow and trees to its western side (with a further 11 trees to
be added along the hedgerow), whilst the footway to the south side of Lyons Road now
retains its grass verges. At the bellmouth, the road is narrower at 4.8 compared to 5.5m
previously, and the short section of footway is now detached from the carriageway allowing
for the hedgerow to site between. Overall, the proposals retain more green infrastructure and
reduces down the extent of hard surfacing from that previously proposed, with new tree
planting to act as compensation and improve the soft landscaping along the access road.
Whilst there is an inevitable need to better formalise this junction given the additional traffic
movements, the scheme now proposed is considered to represent an appreciable and
welcome improvement on the previous proposals that would better retain the green and rural
approach into the village.

6.33

With the above in mind, no objection is raised on landscape and arboricultural grounds.
Therefore, criterion (4) of SNP Policy 8 is considered to have been met, in addition to Policies
25 and 33(6) of the Horsham District Planning Framework.
Amenity Impacts

6.34

Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that permission will be granted
for development that does not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the
occupiers/users of nearby properties and land.
Amenity of Existing Neighbouring Residents

6.35

The proposed site shares its western boundary with The Garden House, The Street. The
side elevation of the proposed dwelling closest to this neighbour (Plot 21) is sited at a
distance of approximately 10m from the rear elevation of The Garden House. Existing mature
boundary screening and trees (within the grounds of The Garden House) would be retained.
Whilst the relationship between the proposed dwelling and its neighbour may appear
appreciably overbearing (compared to the existing arrangement on the site), this separation
distance is not considered out of the ordinary for dwellings within the built-up area.

6.36

Given the westerly location of the proposed dwellings in the relation to The Garden House,
coupled with the two-storey heights of the proposed dwellings, the neighbour would not be
expected to experience any detrimental loss of light or overshadowing. Details delating to
boundary treatment will be agreed at the reserved matters stage. Furthermore, as no

Page 28

elevations are provided for the dwellings, it is not currently known if any windows would be
sited at first floor level facing the west. This would be assessed at the reserved matters stage
and could be controlled by way of condition.
6.37

The proposal site does not immediately neighbour dwellings to the north, east or south. The
closest dwellings to the south/east and south-west would be sited between 110m and 172m
from the nearest proposed dwelling on the site. This separation distance is considered
sufficient to not result in adverse harm to neighbouring amenity by way of overlooking,
overbearing, or overshadowing.

6.38

The proposed replacement Cricket Pavilion would be sited in the same location as the
existing, which is sited to the north-eastern corner of the cricket field to the south of the site,
and is indicated to occupy a slightly larger footprint. The Design and Access Statement
indicates that the replacement pavilion would be two-storeys in height, which would appear
taller than the existing. As established above, the principle of replacing the Cricket Pavilion
is accepted under Policy 8 of the SNP. The pavilion, as existing, is located some 39m from
the nearest neighbouring dwelling to the west, Windalls. The replacement pavilion is
indicated to include an additional storey as well as a larger footprint.

6.39

Whilst the pavilion would appear larger than the existing, in terms of form and height, the
separation distance between the building and the neighbouring dwelling coupled with the
westerly orientation to the neighbour is consider sufficient to not warrant any adverse harm
by way of overlooking, overshadowing, or overbearing. Given the existing use of the site, the
increased size of the pavilion may result in a modest increase in activity on the site. However,
hours of use and ancillary activities can be controlled by way of condition.

6.40

Whilst it is accepted that the development would result in an increased level of activity on
the site, based on the indicative plans submitted it is considered that it has been suitably
demonstrated that the resultant development is capable of not resulting in adverse harm to
the amenities of the existing neighbouring dwellings. Whilst details of boundaries and internal
room arrangement are yet to be confirmed, the amenity impact to existing neighbouring
dwellings is considered to be acceptable. As such, no objection is raised with regards to this
aspect of the proposal.
Amenity of Future Occupants

6.41

The indicative layout of the proposed dwellings is considered appropriate with regards to
their impact on each other. The scheme does include parcels of back-to-back housing, all of
which feature gardens between each dwelling. Given their separation distance from each
other, no harm is considered to arise by way of overlooking. Overall, this layout would not
result in a significant sense of enclosure for future residents of the site, nor lead to undue
harm by way of overshadowing and overbearing. Whilst details of the first-floor windows and
the internal layout of each dwelling has not been confirmed, this can be controlled at detailed
design stages and through applying planning conditions.

6.42

With the above in mind, the proposed development is not considered to result in adverse
harm to the amenities of the existing neighbouring and future occupants, in accordance with
Policy 33 of the HDPF.
Highways and Access

6.43

Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that transport access and ease
of movement is a key factor in the performance of the local economy. The need for
sustainable transport and safe access is vital to improve development across the district.
Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that development that involved
the loss of existing parking spaces will only be allowed if suitable alternative provision has

Page 29

been secured elsewhere. Adequate parking facilities must be provided within the
developments to meet the needs of the anticipated users.
6.44

The means of access to the site are sought under this outline proposal and have been
revised from those previously proposed under DC/19/1386 to address the visual impact
concerns that prompted the refusal of planning permission. The amendments are outlined at
paragraph 1.5 at the start of this report and essentially comprise a narrower 4.8m wider
shared surface access road, indentation of Lyons Road south by a maximum of 0.7m,
dropped kerb crossings to Mitchell Gardens and across Lyons Road west of the site
entrance, and a short section of footway west of the access road to link to the dropped kerb
crossing point. A new Road Safety Audit (RSA) accompanies the application.

6.45

WSCC Highways previously commented on the access following a visit to the site in July
2019. In response to the latest proposals, WSCC raise no objection on highway safety
grounds, or in terms of the appropriateness of the new shared surface arrangement given
the low traffic volumes that would use the access. In response to the findings of the RSA,
concern has been raised that the relocation of the existing bus stop from the east of the
access bellmouth to the west may introduce obstruction to visibility splays. Further details of
the relocation of the village gateway fencing is also sought by WSCC Highways.

6.46

In response, the applicants have revised the highway layout plan to keep the bus stop in its
current position east of the bellmouth, and instead include a new dropped kerb crossing point
adjacent. This revised arrangement is to the satisfaction of WSCC Highways officers
following receipt of amended plans and a designers response to the RSA. The village
gateway sign is not to be replaced as there is already existing such signage to the east; again
this is acceptable to WSCC Highways officers

6.47

As previous, the submitted (updated) transport statement summarises that 16 x vehicle
movements are anticipated over AM and PM peak. It is anticipated that Lyons Road will have
a five-day average peak flow of approximately 160 trips for both AM and PM Peaks. This
equates to an increase in peak hour vehicle movements of 10%. Once the development
traffic merges on the adjacent main highway network of either the A29 Stane Street or A264
Five Oaks Road then the traffic generated by the proposed development is assumed to be
less than 1% given the classification as highway as local/county distributor road. WSCC have
carried out their own assessment using suitable parameters and sites and found that the
peak trips estimated are broadly in line with those set out in the transport statement.

6.48

With regards to parking, the indicative plans show a mix of off-street parking and parking
courts for the dwellings. WSCC have stated that as the application is outline seeking matters
of access approval only, details of the internal layout, car and bicycle parking would be
expected at reserved matters stage. WSCC have also suggested that a Travel Plan
Statement is submitted to provide further detail to promote non-car use by way of condition
(attached). Furthermore, details of the amount of Electric Vehicle Charging points will be
detailed at the reserved matters stage, where it would be necessary for the applicant to meet
the requirements of WSCC Highway’s latest Parking Standards (currently 28% overall
provision for 2020).

6.49

With the above in mind, the Local Highway Authority does not consider that the proposal
would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative
impacts on the operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National
Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist
the proposal. Officers have no reason to disagree with this conclusion and recommend that
the proposal therefore accords with Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF.

Page 30

Public Rights of Way
6.50

The site is located close to two existing Public Rights of Ways. PROW 1440_3 travels west
to east along the northern boundary of the site, connecting to the southern side of PROW
1441, which travels north connecting on to the wider footpath network.

6.51

The proposal initially included the creation of a new ‘dedicated’ PROW connecting Lyons
Road from the south to PROW 1441 to the north in order to directly connect the highways
with the wider footpath network. The WSCC Rights of Way officer has though raised concern
at the right of way not being the preferred 2.5m segregated footway, but instead being a
shared surface with vehicular traffic. To achieve a segregated footway would significantly
increase the extent of hard surfacing around the site and likely necessitate the removal of
trees and part of the hedgerow.

6.52

The applicant has offered instead for the shared access road to be made a ‘permissive’ right
of way whereby the landowner consents for the public to have the right to pass for an agreed
period, likely 20 years in this case. Although not a dedicated right of way, this nevertheless
amounts to an improvement on the existing arrangement whereby there is no public right to
use the road, and would provide for improved sustainable connectivity for residents of the
development as well as wider users of the local public right of way network. The WSCC
PROW team have advised that this is an acceptable arrangement for them, with the
permissive agreement to be secured with WSCC by way of s106 agreement.

6.53

The existing PROW 1440_3 (on the northern boundary of the site) is currently composed of
a tarmac surface (north of the existing buildings) and a dirt track (north of the field) travelling
towards the churchyard. As before, the footpath would be upgraded to an all-weather surface
along its extent on the northern boundary of the site. The indicative layout illustrates that the
two new access points would be incorporated to access the footpath from the site. No
diversions to the existing footpaths are proposed.

6.54

The specification and materials of this footpath would need to be agreed between the
applicant and WSCC. Officers are satisfied that this could be adequately accommodated by
way of planning condition.

6.55

Officer’s consider that the creation of a new PROW connecting Lyons Road to the wider
footpath network to the north as a significant benefit to the scheme in favour of approving
the proposal. Furthermore, this is also considered to satisfy Criterion (4) of SNP Policy 8.
Ecology

6.56

The previous application was accompanied with a Phase 1 Habitat Survey, a bat report, and
a reptile report (prepared by Wildlife Matters, received 08.07.2019). An updated ecological
assessment (Ecosupport dated 08.02.2021) has also submitted to the Council. Whilst the
previous full suite of reports do not directly accompany this application, they nevertheless
remain up-to-date and fully relevant in framing the ecological interest of the site and
mitigations necessary alongside the updated ecology assessment. The surveys assessed
the presence of various species including mammals, bats, nesting birds, and reptiles, and
assessed the condition of their potential habitats. Ecological mitigations and enhancements
have been recommended as part of the reports.

6.57

The Council’s Ecology consultant has reviewed the submitted surveys and reports and,
subject to adequate avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures secured via
suggested conditions, does not object to the proposed development. Additional measures
include a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Design Scheme to be included within the reserved
matters stage of this application to demonstrate how the areas onsite particularly sensitive
to bats. The submitted reptile report detailed that some slow worms are present on site, and
appropriate mitigations would be implemented to ensure their protection. On the basis of the

Page 31

detailed within the submission documents and adherence to the conditions suggested by the
Council’s ecological consultant, there is no objection to the proposal on ecological /
biodiversity grounds.
6.58

Further to the above, it is noted that a family of Barn Owls are nesting nearby. The Council’s
Ecological Consultant has advised on this matter, stating that Barn Owls are protected under
Schedule 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Suitable Barn Owl foraging
habitat does not receive protection other than that afforded by virtue of the presence of other
protected flora or fauna. As such, even though a particular area may prove attractive to a
foraging Barn Owl, this does not confer the area any sort of statutory legal protection,
irrespective of the time of year, and whether or not the birds are breeding.

6.59

Barn Owls are included in Schedule 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 which affords
them protection against disturbance whilst nesting in addition to the basic level of protection
of Barn Owls afforded to most wild birds. Specifically, under Part 1, Section 1 (5) it is an
offence punishable with imprisonment for a period of up to 6 months to intentionally or
recklessly:
 Disturb a Barn Owl while it is building a nest or is in, on or near a nest containing
eggs or young; or
 Disturb a Barn Owl’s dependent young.

6.60

The Phase 1 Habitats Survey report (Wildlife Matters, 2017) states that no Schedule 1 birds
were recorded on site in 2017 by the applicant’s ecologists when surveying for reptiles and
bats, which includes evening as well as daytime visits. As this survey was conducted over
three years ago, this data is now considered out of date. With the above in mind, it has been
recommended that an updated survey for Barn Owls is provided to check for any nesting in
trees or buildings prior to commencement to be secured as a condition of any consent.
Drainage

6.61

The Environment Agency’s (EA) online flood maps show that the site is located wholly within
Flood Zone 1, meaning that the land is in a ‘low probability’ flood zone – this was confirmed
by WSCC, the Local Lead Flood Authority. A Floodzone 2 is located approximately 250m
east of the site, surrounding an ordinary watercourse that spurs from the River Arun located
some 670m north of the site.

6.62

The application was accompanied by a detailed drainage impact assessment (prepared
abmh, dated January 2021. The report verifies that there are existing surface water flooding
issues associated with the ditches and culverted watercourses along the Lyons Road.
Therefore, drainage is proposed to be routed to an existing watercourse situated 200m east
of the current site access. This new connection point and drainage route will bypass the
existing culverted watercourse and in so doing provide significant betterment and a reduction
in flood risk along Lyons Road.

6.63

The report also details that flow rates to the eastern discharge point will be restricted to
greenfield site flow rates, in line with DEFRA guidance. Site attenuation will also be
incorporated, including porous paving and cellular tanks. The report concludes that the
proposed drainage design significantly reduces the surface water flows that currently
contribute to the flooding issues along the eastern section of Lyons Road, providing
betterment to these residential areas.

6.64

Following consultation with the Council’s Drainage Engineer, no objection is raised with
regards to the findings of the submitted report. The concerns of residents and their local
knowledge of flooding along Lyons Road are fully acknowledged, however the drainage
strategy is clear in how the re-directing and control of surface water flows east of the site will
reduce the flooding experienced along Lyons Road creating a betterment on existing, and
avoid causing flooding issues further along to the east. It is considered that the submitted

Page 32

drainage report demonstrates the development proposals can be satisfactorily
accommodated without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and could therefore be considered
in accordance with Chapter 14 of the NPPF, and Policy 38 of the HDPF, subject to planning
conditions.
Climate Change
6.65

Policies 35, 36 and 37 of the HDPF require that development mitigates to the impacts of
climate change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk,
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans
and decisions mitigate the impact of development on climate change.

6.66

Officers are satisfied that proposed development could include the following measures to
address climate change:
 water usage limit of 110l/p/day.
 Energy efficient LED lighting (including external lights);
 Use of permeable surfaces and sustainable drainage systems;
 Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity;
 Opportunities for biodiversity gain (as detailed above) and additional planting;
 Cycle parking facilities;
 Improved pedestrian and cycle links;
 Provision of electric vehicle charging points, and;

6.67

The Local Planning Authority are satisfied that appropriate measures could be put in place
to mitigate against any potential sustainability impacts. These measures would be secured
by way of planning condition and S106 agreement in the event that permission is granted.

6.68

With the above in mind, the Local Planning Authority are satisfied that through the use of
appropriately worded planning conditions, the above measures could be implemented to
reduce the development’s impact on climate change. To this regard, the Local Planning
Authority does not object to the proposal on these grounds.
Other Matters

6.69

During consideration of the previous application concern has been raised that the boundaries
to the adjacent cricket pitch will need to move, thereby bringing properties into greater danger
of ball strike and/or necessitating tall net fencing. The cricket field sits outside the red line of
this application site and is not shown to be moved. Officers understand that regardless of
this application the cricket club is likely to need to move the wicket up to 8m west within the
field boundary and install boundary netting in order to bring the field up to code with the
England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB) playing standards. An area between the cricket field
and Lyons Road is included in the red line of this application for the provision of ball-stop
netting, with all details reserved for later consideration. This would include details of its
height, appearance, and whether the netting would be permanent or a temporary installation
for the duration of the cricket season.

6.70

It is also important to recognise that the area set aside for the ball-stop netting is not required
as a consequence of the development of houses on this allocated housing site. It is instead
included to enable the cricket club to appropriately upgrade its facilities to meet ECB
standards as described above. In respect of ball-strike risk, there is no indication the
indicative housing layout will bring any of the proposed dwellings within ball strike of the
cricket field, with the intervening space comprising access ways and parking for the pavilion,
and planting.

Page 33

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 Agreement
6.71

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017. This development constitutes CIL liable
development.

6.72

In the case of outline applications, the CIL charge will be calculated at the relevant reserved
matters stage.

6.73

A Section 106 Agreement has been drafted to secure the affordable housing contributions
(33%) in addition to the 2% equivalent financial contribution. This will be agreed between the
Council’s legal department and the applicant’s solicitors prior to issuing the decision notice if
members are minded to agree with the Officer’s recommendation to approve the planning
application subject to the below planning conditions. The S106 will also include agreement
with WSCC to the permissive Right of Way and to a contribution of £1,500 towards travel
plan monitoring.
Conclusions

6.74

The application seeks outline planning consent for the erection of up to 24 dwellings, with all
matters reserved for later consideration except for access. Details relating to scale,
appearance, design and landscaping have been reserved. The site has been allocated for
residential development under Policy 8 of the SNP therefore the principle of the development
is accepted. The proposal includes an appropriate housing mix, in addition to a policy
compliant provision of affordable housing. The submission has further demonstrated
accordance with the criterion within Policy 8 of the SNP, including access to the site and
enhancements and additions to the existing PROW network, in addition to general
compliance with local planning policies.

6.75

It has further been demonstrated that the proposal would not amount to an adverse impact
on existing residents’ amenity. The detailed design stage will confirm the layout and habitable
room placement of the dwellings in relation to their siting to the nearest existing residential
neighbours.

6.76

The proposed means of access to the site are considered satisfactory on technical highways
grounds, and thus the Highways Authority are satisfied that the site would be adequately
served by a safe means of access and would not cause harm to the operation or safe use of
the existing highway network.

6.77

Development of this site would nevertheless amount to ‘less than substantial’ harm to the
historic context of the site, however this harm is to the lower end of the ‘less than substantial’
scale and would be outweighed by the benefits of the scheme such as the provision of market
and affordable housing, and enhancements and additions to the existing PROW network as
proposed.

6.78

Appropriate ecological mitigations and enhancements have been recommended, which the
Council’s Ecological Consultant has agreed to. No adverse risks have been identified as a
result of the scheme in regards to drainage on and surrounding the site, to which appropriate
mitigation measures have been considered as part of the design.

6.79

Furthermore, the proposal facilitates the replacement of the existing Cricket Pavilion to the
south of the site, in which detailed design, use, layout and scale will be sought under future
reserved matters applications. The provision and facilitation of this is considered a significant
community benefit to the scheme.

6.80

Officers therefore recommend that this application for the development of the site be
approved in compliance with the relevant policies of the Horsham District Planning

Page 34

Framework and Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan, subject to the below detailed list of planning
conditions and the completion of the necessary s106 legal agreement.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve outline planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:

1

Standard Plans Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

2

Outline Permission:
(a)

Approval of the details of the layout of the development, the scale of each building,
the appearance of each building hereby approved (including the new cricket pavilion),
and the landscaping of the development (hereinafter called “the reserved matters”)
shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development
is commenced.

(b)

Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition (a) above,
relating to the layout of the development, the scale of each building hereby approved
(including the new cricket pavilion), the appearance of each building, and the
landscaping of the development, shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning
Authority and shall be carried out as approved.

(c)

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.

(d)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of 2 years from the
date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the
later.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to
comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented
and adhered to throughout the entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as
appropriate but not necessarily be restricted to the following matters:
 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction
 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors
 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste
 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the
impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of temporary
Traffic Regulation Orders)
 An indicative programme for carrying out of the works
 The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction works
 Details of any floodlighting, including location, height, type and direction of light
sources and intensity of illumination

Page 35





measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works
ecological and biodiversity mitigations (see informative)

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area, ecological and
biodiversity interests, and in accordance with Policies 24, 33(2) and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage strategy
detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a detailed surface
water drainage scheme including a Surface Water Drainage Statement, based on
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological
context of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The submitted details shall be fully coordinated with the landscape
scheme. The development shall subsequently be implemented prior to first occupation in
accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained as such.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve
and protect water quality, improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance in
accordance Policies 35 and 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: Prior to the commencement of development approved by
this planning permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a scheme to deal with
the risks associated with contamination, including asbestos contamination, of the site and
extant structures shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning
authority:
a)
A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
 all previous uses
 potential contaminants associated with those uses
 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
b)
A site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
c)
The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (b) and, based on
these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
Any changes to these components require the express consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No part of the development shall commence until such
time as the highways works including vehicular access, footway and dropped kerb pedestrian

Page 36

tactile points serving the development have been constructed in accordance with the details
shown on the drawings titled:
 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT & CRICKET PAVILION HIGHWAY JUNCTION
LAYOUT HIGHWAY INDENTED SOUTH and numbered FC2703/13 OPT2 Rev. N
(received 12.04.2021).
 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT & CRICKET PAVILION HIGHWAY LAYOUT &
LEVELS DWG 1 OF 2 and numbered FC2703/06 OPT2 Rev. Q (received
12.04.2021).
 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT & CRICKET PAVILION HIGHWAY LAYOUT &
LEVELS DWG 2 OF 2 and numbered FC2703/07 OPT2 Rev. H (received
09.04.2021).
The access footway and dropped kerb tactile points serving the development shall be
retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of road safety, and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
8

Pre-Commencement Condition: No part of the development shall commence until visibility
splays of 2.4 metres by 56 metres have been provided at the proposed site vehicular access
onto Lyons Road in accordance with the approved planning drawings. Once provided the
splays shall thereafter be maintained and kept free of all obstructions over a height of 0.6
metre above adjoining carriageway level or as otherwise agreed.
Reason: In the interests of road safety, and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Commencement Condition: The following works shall not in in any circumstances
commence unless the local planning authority has been provided with either:
a) a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55 of The Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorizing the specified
activity/development to go ahead; or
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not
consider
that the specified activity/development will require a licence.
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the Local Planning Authority
to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.

10

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence, including demolition
pursuant to the permission granted, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or
materials onto the site, until the following preliminaries have been completed in the sequence
set out below:
 All trees on the site shown for retention on drawing number J54.03/02 (as per the
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment, prepared by Broad Oak Tree Consultants
ltd, received 08.07.2019 under application DC/19/1386), to include for the avoidance of
doubt the trees identified as T33-T38 (inclusive) and T40 & T41 (referenced as T28-T34
(inclusive) and T36-T38 (inclusive) on the Tree Survey MW.21.0109.TS received on
08/02/2021 under this application) which for the avoidance of doubt shall be retained at
all times, as well as those off-site whose root protection areas ingress into the site, shall
be fully protected throughout all construction works by tree protective fencing affixed to
the ground in full accordance with section 6 of BS 5837 'Trees in Relation to Design,
Demolition and Construction - Recommendations' (2012).
 Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the development
works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.

Page 37



Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not be used
for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any circumstances. No mixing of
cement, concrete, or use of other materials or substances shall take place within any tree
protective zone, or close enough to such a zone that seepage or displacement of those
materials and substances could cause them to enter a zone.

Any trees or hedges on the site which die or become damaged during the construction
process shall be replaced with trees or hedging plants of a type, size and in positions agreed
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
11

Regulatory Condition: The proposed footway west of the site access from Lyons Road
shall be constructed using a no dig foundation where it passes through the root protection
area of the Pedunculate Oak identified as T36 on the Tree Survey plan MW.21.0109.TS
received 08/02/2021.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Commencement (Lighting) Condition: Prior to the installation of any external lighting,
a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are particularly
sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for
foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision
of appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it
can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their
territory. The scheme must also be designed by a suitably qualified person in accordance
with the recommendations for environmental zone E2 in the Institute of Lighting
Professional’s Guidance document “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
GN01:2011.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set
out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act
1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species), and in
accordance with Policy 33 oh the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Prior to development commencing above
ground floor slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority
species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.

Page 38

Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge
its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
14

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Prior to the commencement of the
development above slab level, details of the proposed improvement works to the Public Right
of Way (ROW 1440_3) along the northern boundary of the site shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include, but not be limited to:
 A layout plan of the pathway at a scale of at least 1:500;
 Horizontal sections of the proposed pathway at a scale of at least 1:20;
 Details and construction of the proposed surfacing materials;
 Details of any planting adjacent to the pathway (in accordance with landscape detail,
to be submitted);
 Details of the long-term management and maintenance of the pathways, and;
 Details of (if any) street furnishings.
The works shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved details and completed
prior to the occupation of the twentieth dwelling, and shall thereafter be maintained as such,
unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the improvement works to the Public Right of Way are undertaken
in accordance with the standards accepted by the West Sussex County Council Public Right
of Way Team, and to ensure satisfactory appearance in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the necessary inbuilding physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable superfast
broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband connection shall
be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until such
time as a Travel Plan Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Travel Plan Statement shall be completed in accordance with the
latest guidance and good practice documentation as published by the Department for
Transport or as advised by the Highway Authority.
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport, in accordance with Policy 40 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted, a verification report demonstrating that the SuDS drainage
system has been constructed in accordance with the approved design drawings shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
maintained in accordance with the approved report.
Reason: To ensure a SuDS drainage system has been provided to an acceptable standard
to the reduce risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve habitat and
amenity, and ensure future maintenance in accordance Policies 35 and 38 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

18

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted, a contamination verification plan shall be submitted to and
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The verification plan shall provide

Page 39

details of the data collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in Condition (6)
are complete, and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action where required.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
19

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation of the cricket pavilion, an assessment
of the acoustic impact arising from the operation of all internally and externally located plant
to be installed at the sports pavilion shall be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142:2014
or superseding equivalent. The assessment shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority together with a scheme of attenuation measures to mitigate any adverse impacts
identified in the acoustic assessment. The scheme shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme as approved by the Local Planning
Authority shall be fully installed before the use hereby permitted commences and shall be
operated for as long as the use is continued.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of residential amenities by ensuring
an acceptable noise level for the occupants of the development in accordance with Policy 33
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

20

Pre-Occupation Condition: The use of the cricket pavilion hereby permitted shall not
commence until a customer management plan has been submitted and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. This should include but not be limited to, hours of operation,
management responsibilities during all operating hours, measures to control noise from live
and amplified music (including the screening of sporting events and public address systems)
and minimising the effects of patrons coming and going from site and demonstrating how
customers leaving the building will be prevented from causing nuisance for people in the
area. The use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of residential amenities by ensuring
an acceptable noise level for the occupants of the development in accordance with Policy 33
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

21

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Updated Ecological Assessment
(Ecosupport Ltd, February 2021) already submitted with the planning application and agreed
in principle with the Local Planning Authority prior to determination. This may include the
appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works (ECoW,)
to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed person shall
undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
(Priority habitats & species).

22

Regulatory Condition: All works shall be executed in full accordance with the submitted
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (prepared by Broad Oak Tree Consultants ltd, received
08.07.2019 under application DC/19/1386), with the exception of the removal of the trees
identified as T33-T38 (inclusive) and T40 & T41 detailed in appendix 6 of the report
(referenced as T28-T34 (inclusive) and T36-T38 (inclusive) on the Tree Survey
MW.21.0109.TS received on 08/02/2021 under this application) which for the avoidance of

Page 40

doubt shall be retained at all times, and all works to the proposed access to the site from
Lyons Road shall consist of a no-dig construction when within the Root Protection Zone of
all trees to be retained.
Reason: To ensure the successful and satisfactory protection of important trees, shrubs and
hedges on the site in accordance with Policies 30 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
23

Regulatory Condition: The dwellings hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the sustainability
of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

24

Regulatory Condition: No soils shall be imported or re-used within the development site
until the developer has submitted details of the chemical testing and assessment of the soils
which demonstrates the suitability of the soils for the proposed use. The assessment shall
be undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person and full details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To ensure that no contaminated material is bought on to the site in the interests of
public safety and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015)

25

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

INFORMATIVES
Conditions to be Discharged
Please be advised that there are conditions on this notice that will require the submission of details
to be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. To approve these details, you will need
to submit an "Application for approval of details reserved by condition" with an application form and
pay the appropriate fee.
Guidance and the forms can be found at
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms
Highways
The applicant is advised that the erection of temporary directional signage should be agreed with
the Local Traffic Engineer prior to any signage being installed. The applicant should be aware that
a charge will be applied for this service.
The applicant is required to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex County Council, as
Highway Authority, to cover the off-site highway works. The applicant is requested to contact The
Implementation Team Leader (01243 642105) to commence this process. The applicant is advised
that it is an offence to undertake any works within the highway prior to the agreement being in place.

Page 41

Surface Water Drainage Statements
A Surface Water Drainage Statement is a site-specific drainage strategy that demonstrates that the
drainage scheme proposed is in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems. An Advice Note and a
proforma
for
the
statement
can
be
found
using
the
following
link
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/development-management
Ordinary Watercourse Consent
Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, any works (permanent or temporary) that have the potential to
affect the existing watercourse or ditch’s ability to convey water will require the Ordinary
Watercourse Consent. Ordinary watercourses include streams, drains, ditches and passages
through which water flows that do not form the network of main rivers.
Southern Water
Please note that Southern Water require a formal application for connection to the water supply in
order to service this development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House,
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire (tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk
Waste Removal
A licensed waste removal contractor shall remove all site clearance debris, demolition and
construction waste from site including all asbestos waste (if any).
Unexpected Contamination
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then
no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall
be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from
the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Condition 3: Ecological / Biodiversity Considerations
Matters relating to ecological and biodiversity mitigation within the construction environmental
management plan (CEMP) include details of the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

Page 42

06) DC/21/0109
Land North of Slinfold Cricket Club, Lyons Road, Slinfold, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH13 0RX

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:5,000
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

28/04/2021

Page 43MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

11th May 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of a single storey side extension to existing gym.

SITE:

Horsham Amateur Boxing Club North Parade Horsham West Sussex
RH12 2BP

WARD:

Denne

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0333

APPLICANT:

Name: MR JOHN ESSEX Address: Horsham Boxing Club North
Parade Horsham RH121AU

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application site is owned by Horsham
District Council
RECOMMENDATION:
1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

This application seeks planning permission to erect a single storey side extension to the
existing Boxing Club/ Gym building within Horsham Park that is owned by Horsham District
Council and let to Horsham Amateur Boxing Club. This site has been let to the Amateur
Boxing Club for the last 22 years and provides boxing classes and boxing fitness classes for
children from 9 years upwards to all levels of adult ability.

1.2

The Boxing Club is increasing in popularity and is now looking to increase the size of the
building to allow a greater area for indoor training. The extension proposed is located on the
northern side of the building and be a flat roofed single storey structure with a mixture of
timber cladding and brickwork to match the existing building and will provide an additional
60 m2 of floorspace for the Boxing Club.

1.3

Parking provision for the Boxing Club will continue to be provided through the use of the
North Parade Car Park (Pay and Display) or other nearby car parks serving Horsham Park.
Access to the Boxing Club is gained via an existing footpath from the Car Park.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.4

The application site is situated within Horsham Built Up Area Boundary and is located
immediately North of the North Parade Car Park close to the western boundary of Horsham

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 45

Tel:

Park. To the west of the building is the grade 2 listed estate wall which formed the boundary
to Horsham Park when it was a private estate garden and still denotes the western boundary
of the now public park.
1.5

The building subject to the application is functional in its appearance with a flat roof and brick
and timber clad elevations. It sits within a mostly open site consisting of grass, flower beds
and trees and is adjacent to one of the footpaths that meanders around the edge of the path
leading to Horsham Town Centre from the Trafalgar / West Horsham border.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 11 - Tourism and Cultural Facilities
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
An independent examiner has been instructed to undertake the examination of the Horsham
Blueprint Business Neighbourhood Plan. The examiner will undertake unaccompanied site
visits of the area and has been issued all Reg 16 representations in full. The examiner has
produced an Examination Note inviting further comment from specific stakeholders. Relevant
policies:
Policy HB3: Character of Development
Policy HB4: Design of Development
Policy HB12: Encouraging Sustainable Movement
Policy HB13: Provision of Sport, Leisure and Recreation Facilities

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/1349

Erection of a single storey side extension to existing
gym.

Page 46

Withdrawn Application on
13.08.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Conservation: No Objection
The existing boxing club is a functional, unobtrusive building with a flat roof and brick and
timber clad elevations. The building is situated close to the western boundary of Horsham
Park. To the east of the building is the grade 2 listed estate wall which formed the boundary
to Horsham Park. The wall is described within the HE listing as; Estate walls to Horsham
Park. 2 surviving lengths of walls around the grounds of Horsham Park. Probably C18.
Section along North Street to east of the house. Approximately 5 to 6 ft high. Dressed Forest
stone blocks with stone capping. Section along North Parade to west of the grounds.
Approximately 5 to 6 ft high. Random stone with projecting round-topped coping and plain
flat pilasters. Similar to the estate wall of Springfield Park which runs parallel on the opposite
side of North Parade. Horsham park, the stables, granary, outbuildings and estate walls form
a group.
Horsham Park originally formed the private estate gardens of Park House and became a
public park in 1928 when the land and Park House was purchased by Horsham Urban District
Council from the Hurst family. Further land was added to the park in 1949.
It is considered that the proposed extension although not architecturally interesting would be
in keeping with the existing building, and would not detract from the setting of the listed
wall. No objection would therefore be raised. I noted from my site visit that there is a tree
on the northern side of the building - would this be retained as part of the development?
HDC Tree Officer: Comment
The only tree in the area that would be affected by this proposal is the Maple, which is located
to the north of the proposed extension. The tree is situated at a distance of 9.2m from the
existing building, it has a DBH at 1.5 above ground level of 604mm this gives it a Root
Protection Area of 7.2m in all directions, and would place a high percentage of the RPA under
the new extension. BS 5837 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction Recommendations' [2012], paragraph 5.3.1 states, “The default position should be that
structures (see 3.10) are located outside the RPAs of trees to be retained. However, where
there is an overriding justification for construction within the RPA, technical solutions might
be available that prevent damage to the tree(s)”.
For this proposal to be construed in a manner that ensures the disruption to the trees roots
is kept to a minimum; they would need to use a specialist foundation, such as, a pile
foundation system with the concert floor suspended off the ground. A slab or raft foundation
would not be suitable as this would result in an unactable amount of soil compaction, and
overtime this would result in damage to the tree and possibly early mortality.





Any excavations within the RPA should be undertaken carefully, using hand-held tools.
If any roots are exposed during the work these, should immediately be wrapped or
covered to prevent desiccation and to protect them from rapid temperature changes.
Any wrapping should be removed prior to backfilling, which should take place as soon
as possible.
Prior to backfilling, and retained roots should be surrounded with topsoil or uncompacted
sharp sand (builders’ sand should not be used because of its high salt content, which is
toxic to tree roots), or other loose inert granular fill, before the soil or another suitable

Page 47



material is replaced. This material should be free of contaminants and other foreign
objects potentially injurious to tree roots.
The post holes would need to be lined with a non-permeable material or sheath i.e. a
plastic membrane, to protect the soil and any adjacent roots from the potentially toxic
effects of uncured concrete.

Some minor facilitation pruning would need to be undertaken before the works begin to
prevent some of the branches from interfering with the building’s roof. There are three low
lateral branches on the northern side of the trees; these would need to be taken back to the
point of attachment to BS 3998 Tree Work – Recommendations 2010 standards to allow
for a reasonable amount of clearance between the roof and the branches. This would still
leave the higher branches on the southern side of the tree over the building. If the applicant
was still concerned about this, further surgery in the form of sympathetic 1 to 1.5m all-around
crown reduction would help with this, but due to the location of the proposed extension, part
of the tree's crown will always be located over the building’s roof.
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
This department has no objections to this application in principal. There are some residential
properties along North Parade opposite the Park. To mitigate any adverse environmental
impacts, the applicant will need to exercise suitable controls.
I make recommendations for consideration by the Planning Department:
1. No external plant for mechanical ventilation, air conditioning systems, etc. shall be installed
without prior consent from the Planning Authority.
2. No external security lighting or illuminated signage shall be installed without prior consent
from the Planning Authority
3. Restrictions on hours of use for deliveries are recommended in order to control noise
disturbance to residential neighbouring properties.
4. Hours of construction/demolition activities (including deliveries and dispatch) should be
limited to 08.00 – 18.00 Monday until Friday, 09.00 – 13.00 Saturdays and no activity on
Sundays or Bank Holidays.
5. Suitable assessments should be made to identify any asbestos contained within the
existing buildings which may be disturbed. Controls should be put in place to ensure safe
removal and disposal.
6. A licensed waste removal contractor should remove all clearance debris, asbestos and
other construction waste from site.
7. No burning of materials should take place on site.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
I note that the application site does not benefit from any private parking provisions. This said,
there is a public car park located adjacent to the property, that currently and proposed is
used for any parking demands. I also note that the applicant proposes that most the
customers of the site are local, of which most either use bikes or proceed on foot. Because
of this, I would advise that you may wish to review their cycle parking provision, details of
which can be secured via a suitably worded condition I have provided below.
The proposal for a small extension to the gym would not be anticipated to generate a high
number of trips to the site in its current form and as such I provide the following verdict:

Page 48

The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
The LHA advises the LPA that if they are mindful to permit the above application than to
attach the following condition:
Cycle Parking
Within 6 months of the complete construction of extension, covered and secure cycle parking
spaces should be provided in accordance with plans and details to be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with current
sustainable transport policies.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
Horsham Denne Neighbourhood Council: Objection
The plan provided is identical to DC/20/1349 that was withdrawn and still lacks details
including the potential number of members that can be accommodated.
Horsham Denne Neighbourhood Council has the following comments and queries:
1) The planning statement refers to classes for children and also for people wishing to get fit
so we assume that the club will be available to both genders. If this is correct HDNC
considers that there should be additional toilet and washing facilities to cater for both
genders and increased membership.
2) There seems to be a lack of windows which HDNC considers is important to ensure
adequate ventilation for very active exercise. It has been noted that the double doors on the
side facing into the park have been left open exposing activities within.
3) The extended building will be more prominent in its location in the Park. HDNC would
have hoped that, as alterations are being made to the exterior, the design could be more
attractive rather than purely functional.
4) HDNC would like reassurance that care will be taken to ensure there is no/minimal
damage to tree roots. We note that the Conservation officer has asked what will happen to
the large tree close to the north side of the building.
While we support the aims of the club to be able to potentially grow and provide better
facilities for the youth in the district HDNC objects to this application until our queries and
concerns are resolved.
One letter has been received from Friends of Horsham Park supporting the proposed
development:
 The Friends of Horsham Park support the Boxing Club's desire to expand their premises
as they provide an important amenity to the community.
 Support is on the proviso that adequate care is taken and the necessary funding
allocated to protect the tree roots in the area. The roots of the adjacent mature oak are
very vulnerable and this tree has high value to the landscape and to wildlife. We would
like to see the plans for root protection.

Page 49

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Policy 43 of the Horsham District Planning Framework ‘Community Facilities, Leisure and
Recreation’ seeks to retain and enhance existing leisure facilities particularly where they
meet the needs of local communities. This is particularly when they are in accordance with
the Development Hierarchy.

6.2

The Horsham Amateur Boxing Club have been located at the North Parade/ Horsham Park
site for 22 years where they have provided a successful and viable community sports facility
for the local community. The Club has continued to grow in popularity and as a result of this
they are looking to increase the size of the building to allow a larger internal training area for
their customers.

6.3

The application site is within the built-up area of Horsham, and within a central location,
where the principle of development on the site would be supported by Policy 43 of the HDPF
subject to all other material considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) Policies 32 and 33 seek to promote
development of high quality and inclusive design for all development in the district, ensuring
that it is complementary of local distinctive character and heritage, integrating with their
surroundings. Furthermore, these policies ensure that the scale, massing and appearance
of the development is of a high standard of design and layout and where relevant, relates
sympathetically with the built surroundings.

6.5

The existing Boxing Club is a functional, unobtrusive building with a flat roof and brick and
timber clad elevations. The extension will measure 5 metres deep and 12.1 metres wide and
be situated to the north elevation of the existing building. It is considered that the proposed
extension although not architecturally interesting would be in keeping with the existing
building, and would not harm the setting of the nearby listed wall or the openness and visual
quality of Horsham Park.

6.6

It is acknowledged that Horsham Denne Neighbourhood Council would have welcomed a
more attractive design, rather than purely functional. However this proposal it is not
considered to be harmful to the surrounding setting or the existing building and there are not
considered to be design grounds to refuse this application.

6.7

It is also acknowledged that the Neighbourhood Council have suggested that the application
should include additional windows. The applicants have considered this but feel that the
existing air vents in the building and current ventilation arrangements do provide adequate
ventilation for their customers. When weighed against the experience they have had

Page 50

previously with windows that used to be on the southern side of the building (these were
smashed many times) the benefits do not outweigh the problems they may cause. From a
visual perspective the existing building does not have window openings therefore the
absence of any in the new extension would not be out of keeping.
Amenity Impacts
6.8

Policy 33 of the HDPF, Development Principles, seeks to ensure that proposals avoid
unacceptable harm to the amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property and land, for
example through overlooking or noise, whilst having regard to the sensitivities of surrounding
development.

6.9

This is an existing site that has operated from this location for over 20 years. This modest
extension is not considered to impact on the amenity of users of Horsham Park substantially
above what is already there.

6.10

Due to the relative proximity of residential dwellings on North Parade, Environmental Health
have suggested some conditions to be placed on the permission if it is to be granted. These
include no external plant without prior consent, no external security lighting or illuminated
signage without prior consent, restricted delivery hours, restricted construction hours and
further advice on the removal of asbestos, using a licenced waste removal contractor and
the burning of materials. Given the location of the building in the public park at a good
separation from nearby dwellings it is not considered that conditions restricting delivery hours
is necessary. Matters relating to removal of material from the site are controlled under
separate legislation, and informatives can be applied to advise the applicants accordingly. In
the interests of the visual amenity of the site conditions to restrict external lighting, external
plant, and construction hours are considered necessary and appropriate. Subject to these
conditions the proposal would accord with policy 33 of the HDPF.

Highways and Parking Impacts
6.11

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF states that development should provide safe and adequate
access and parking, suitable for all users.

6.12

The application site does not benefit from any private parking provisions. However the site
is located adjacent to North Parade Pay and Display Car Park that currently and proposed
is used for any parking demands. The applicant proposes that most the customers of the site
are local, of which most either use bikes or proceed on foot. Because of this, the parking
provision is considered acceptable and it is recommended that a condition is included to
review their cycle parking provision to ensure this is adequately provided for and customers
are encouraged to use sustainable forms of transport.

6.13

The proposal for a small extension to the gym would not be anticipated to generate a high
number of trips to the site in its current form and as such this proposal would not have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Impact on Trees

6.14

It is noted that there are a number of trees adjacent to the building. Of particular note is a
large maple tree located to the north of the proposed extension. The tree is situated at a
distance of 9.2m from the existing building and the Root Protection Area (RPA) is calculated
as 7.2m in all directions. This places a high percentage of the RPA under the new extension.

Page 51

6.15

For this proposal to be construed in a manner that ensures the disruption to the trees roots
is kept to a minimum; the applicants would need to use a specialist foundation, such as, a
pile foundation system with the concert floor suspended off the ground. A slab or raft
foundation would not be suitable as this would result in an unactable amount of soil
compaction, and overtime this would result in damage to the tree and possibly early
mortality. It is therefore recommended that a pre-commencement condition is attached to the
planning permission that requires details of the proposed foundations to ensure the Maple
tree is protected.

6.16

The Council’s tree officer has commented that there are also three low lateral branches on
the northern side of the tree that would need to be taken off at the point of attachment to
ensure they do not interfere with the building’s roof. This would still leave the higher branches
on the southern side of the building over the building and further sympathetic surgery may
be appropriate to reduce the crown- although part of the crown will always be located over
the building’s roof. The Tree officer has raised no objection to these works and overall it is
not considered that relatively minor work to this tree would result in a level of harm that would
justify the withholding of permission. To ensure appropriate works to the tree are carried out
a condition is recommended to require an Arboricultural Method Statement prior to
commencement of any development.
Other Matters

6.17

The Neighbourhood Council have raised concerns around the availability of toilet and wash
facilities for all. The Boxing Club have confirmed that they do provide unisex toilets and a
disabled toilet on the premises and that no gender is excluded from using these.
Conclusion

6.18

Overall the proposed extension would represent a welcome expansion to a well-established
community facility close to the Town Centre. The extension would be acceptable in terms of
the impact on neighbouring amenity and highways matters and with the recommended
conditions would not have an unacceptable impact on the nearby tree. The proposal would
not be out of keeping with the surrounding area and the prevailing character of the park, and
would not harm the setting of the adjacent listed wall, in accordance with Policy 43, 25, 32,
33 and 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions Conditions:

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence, including ground
clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or materials onto the site, until an Arboricultural
Method Statement detailing measures to provide for the protection of all trees/hedgerows
adjacent to the site throughout all construction works, has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall also include a schedule of
works to the adjacent Maple tree that oversails the site, to be agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to any works to this tree commencing. The works shall be
implemented in accordance with the agreed details.

Page 52

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place until details of the
proposed foundations to be used for the extension have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall show that the foundations method
proposed will cause no harm to the adjacent Maple Tree. The development shall be
implemented and thereafter carried out at all times strictly in accordance with the agreed
details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-occupation Condition: Prior to first use of the extension, secure cycle parking spaces
should be provided in accordance with plans and details to be submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved facilities shall be retained as such
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Regulatory Condition: No externally located plant or equipment shall be installed or
operated without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal
application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby neighbours and users of Horsham Park
and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting, floodlighting, or illuminated signage shall be
installed other than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal
application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
8

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes of all new external walls, windows and
roofs of the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those of
the existing building.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

07) DC/21/0333
Horsham Amateur Boxing Club, North Parade, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH12 2BP

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

28/04/2021

Page 55MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

11th May 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use of A3 unit (with ancillary A1 use) to a Use Class E unit on
the ground floor and a 2-bed dwellinghouse to first and second floors,
including the installation of an external staircase to rear elevation

SITE:

4 Park Place Horsham West Sussex RH12 1DG

WARD:

Denne

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0137

APPLICANT:

Name: Nick Costin Address: 16 Meadvale Horsham RH12 1UL

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application is made on behalf of an
immediate family member of a Local Councillor
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the existing A3 unit
to Class E at the ground floor and basement level, and a 2-bed dwelling to the first and
second floors. A replacement window and 2no. roof lights are proposed to the front elevation,
with an enlarged window and installation of an external staircase to the rear also proposed,
and this would provide access to the proposed dwelling.

1.3

The proposed commercial unit would extend over the ground floor and basement levels, and
would measure to a total floor area of approximately 70sqm. The existing shop front and
undercroft doors are to be retained, with no changes to the internal layout proposed, albeit
that furnishings would be removed to facilitate any future use.

1.4

The proposed 2-bed dwelling would extend over the first and second floors, and would be
accessed by an external staircase to the rear. The proposal would involve internal alterations
to subdivide the first floor, creating a combined living room/kitchen and dining room on the
first floor and 2no. bedrooms and bathroom to the second floor. External alterations are
proposed, including the replacement of the first floor windows to the front elevation, the
enlargement of a window to the rear window on the second floor, and the installation of roof

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 57

Tel: 01403 215166

lights to the front roof slope. The installation of an external staircase to the rear is also
proposed.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.5

The application site is located to the east of Park Place, within the built-up area of Horsham
and within the defined Town Centre boundary. The site comprises a mid-terraced three
storey property located within the designated secondary frontage and Conservation Area of
Horsham.

1.6

The surroundings are in mixed use for commercial and residential purposes, with the recently
completed Piries Place car park located to the end of the terrace. The neighbouring
properties consist of commercial uses at the ground floor and residential above.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 12 - Strategic Policy: Vitality and Viability of Existing Retail Centres
Policy 13 - Town Centre Uses
Policy 14 - Shop Fronts and Advertisements
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation

2.5

Horsham Town Plan SPD September 2021
General Guidance 1: Retail Uses
General Guidance 4: Townscape Character and Design
General Guidance 5: Sustainable Design
Site Specific Guidance 2: The Quarter

Page 58

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
2.6

Horsham Blueprint Business Plan
Policy HB1: Location of Development
Policy HB2: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy HB3: Character of Development
Policy HB4: Design of Development
Policy HB5: Energy Efficiency and Design
Policy HB6: Retaining and Enhancing the Vitality and Viability of Horsham Town Centre
Policy HB8: Horsham as a Sustainable Visitor Destination
Policy HB9: Protecting Existing and Encouraging New Commercial Premises and Land
Policy HB12: Encouraging Sustainable Movement

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
HU/35/90

DC/19/2063

Change of use from hotel rooms to class a2 use at first
& second floor levels.
Comment: Ancillary accommodation for park hotel
(From old Planning History)
Change of use from A1 (retail) and hotel rooms to A3
(café) with ancillary retail (A1) use, and installation of
patio door/s to side elevation to allow access to
courtyard area

Application Permitted on
13.03.1990

Appeal against Conditions 4, 5 and 6 (W/4001104)

Dismissed on 18 March
2021

Application Permitted on
03.04.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Economic Development: Objection
Objection as it results in the loss of commercial floorspace within Horsham Town Centre.
Residential should not be the first step without any evidence of the first and second floors no
longer being viable for commercial use.

3.3

HDC Conservation: Objection
It is considered that there would no objection to the change of use of the property from a
conservation perspective, however an objection would be raised to the proposed changes to
the front elevation.
4 Park Place is part of a distinctive parade of traditional shops enclosing the eastern side of
the street and the richly embellished, terraced frontage makes a strong contribution to the
character of the Horsham Conservation Area. Indeed the row of buildings are identified as
being important to the street scene in the Horsham Conservation Area Advice Leaflet (March
2001).
As noted in Historic England’s Traditional Windows publication (Feb 2017) traditional
windows and their glazing make an important contribution to the significance of historic
areas. The historically appropriate material for the windows of a building of this period is
timber, with a painted finish. It is also suggested that timber is more environmentally
sustainable. It is noted that UPVC was approved at the neighbouring property in 2015
however each application should be determined on its merits in accordance with current
policy and guidance. The proposed changes to the first floor window would appear

Page 59

incongruous as the sections and proportions of UPVC windows cannot match the delicacy
of historic joinery. The cumulative effects of unsympathetic windows will erode the locally
distinctive character of the designated conservation area and would thereby incrementally
harm its significance.
3.4

HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
No Objection in principle, however controls required to mitigate any adverse impact on the
neighbouring and proposed residential properties.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.5

WSCC Highways: No Objection
The applicant proposes a nil car parking provision for this development. The WSCC Car
Parking Demand Calculator indicates that the proposed dwelling would create a demand for
two car parking spaces. Therefore, vehicular parking would have to be accommodated onstreet.
Whilst on-street parking is limited in the area, there are comprehensive parking restrictions
in place on the nearby road network prohibiting vehicles from parking in places that would
be a detriment to highway safety. The LHA does not anticipate that the proposed nil car
parking provision would result in a severe highway safety concern, nor give rise to any
parking capacity issues. Weight is given to the fact the site is situated in a sustainable
location. The LHA advises the planning authority to consider the potential amenity impacts
that may result from a small increase in on-street parking demand.
The site is situated in Horsham Town Centre, within walking/cycle distance of shops, schools
and other amenities and services. Cycling is a viable option in the area. The site is also well
connected by public transport. Regular bus services are available from the nearby A281.
Horsham Train Station is situated approximately 750m northeast of the site.
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.6

Denne Neighbourhood Council: Objection
No objection in principle to the conversion of the first and second floors to residential.
However, concerns regarding the viability of the ground floor as an independent unit.
A previous application DC/19/2063 proposed installing patio doors to the covered area at the
side which indicated this additional covered space would be utilised by customers of the cafe.
This new application would mean that this outside space would no longer be available other
than for bin and cycle storage and access to the apartment. Previously the cafe also made
full use of the first floor area for customers indicating that additional space was necessary.

3.7

No letters of support or objection were received from interested parties.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.
HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.

Page 60

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the existing A3 unit
to Class E at the ground floor and basement level, and a 2-bed dwelling over the first and
second floor. External alterations to the front and rear elevations are also proposed.
Principle of Development

6.2

Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) state that development will be
permitted within towns and villages which have defined built-up areas. Any infilling and
redevelopment will be required to demonstrate that it is of an appropriate nature and scale
to maintain characteristics and function of the settlement in accordance with the settlement
hierarchy.

6.3

General Guidance 1 of the Horsham Town Plan outlines that there is a need for a greater
mix of large and small retail units to maintain the historic grain of the town whilst at the same
time opening up greater opportunities for modern retailer requirements.

6.4

The application site is located within the built-up area of Horsham, categorised at the Main
Town within the settlement hierarchy. There is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development, where redevelopment, located within the built-up area boundary, is considered
acceptable. The redevelopment of the site for mixed commercial and residential use is
therefore acceptable, subject to detailed consideration.

6.5

The site is located within the defined Town Centre Boundary and Secondary Retail Frontage,
and the Town Centre Policies are therefore relevant to the appraisal of the proposed change
of use. Policy 12 of the HDPF recognises the development hierarchy of the District, and
supports the promotion and encouragement of activities in the town centre so that it
continues to be the prime focus for community life. This includes maintaining a diverse range
and choice of suitable uses and providing a convenient, cohesive and concentrated primary
area which contains a high proportion of retail uses. Policy 13 of the HDPF outlines that
proposals for main town centre uses will be allowed within the defined town centre boundary
provided that proposals are of an appropriate scale to the centre; will complement the vitality
and viability of the centre; the proposal is accessible, relates to, and is well connected to the
defined frontages of the centre; and the proposal will improve the character, quality and
function of the centre as a whole.

6.6

The proposal would retain a commercial use to the ground floor, with the addition of 1no. 2bed residential dwelling to the first and second floors. These uses are generally considered
acceptable within the Town Centre, with the retention of a commercial use to the ground floor
considered to retain the active frontage and viability of the centre.

6.7

It is however recognised that the site has been subject of recent planning permission under
reference DC/19/2063 for the use of the ground, first and second floors as an A3 (Restaurant
and Cafes) use, along with ancillary A1 (Retail) use. The proposal would therefore result in
the loss of retail floorspace to the first and second floors.

6.8

The Applicant has outlined that the multi-floor layout of the Victorian property does not suit
the vast majority of High Street retail businesses. Various occupiers over the years have
sought to make the awkward layout workable, but all have been unsuccessful. The current
commercial tenant of the premises has tried, but has suffered the same issues. The
additional cost it takes to staff and service the premises makes it economically prohibitive,
and there are significant issues with regards to disabled access, mobility and fire safety. The
existing staircase is restrictive and impractical for use by anyone with limited mobility. The

Page 61

potential cost of replacing the stairs to comply with current regulations or introducing a lift
would prove prohibitive, and would result in an increase in circulation space, which would
compound the viability of the commercial unit. In respect of the proposed uses, it is outlined
that these would be consistent with the wider Town Centre and would complement the use
of the neighbouring properties. It is intended that the practical commercial unit on the ground
floor would prove more attractive to potential tenants, with the proposal considered beneficial
to the vitality of the building and the area; creating much needed housing and offering a
viable commercial premises for future tenants.
6.9

While the loss of the larger retail floorspace would be unfortunate, it is recognised that the
wider surroundings are characterised by mixed use properties comprising retail to the ground
floor and residential above. A residential use to the first and second floors would reflect
similar arrangements within the terrace and wider area, and given the age and structure of
the building, and particularly given previous concerns under planning reference DC/19/2063
regarding noise and disturbance, is considered to improve the quality of the environment for
the neighbouring properties. The proposal would therefore result in public benefit through
the provision of a commensurate use within the upper floors. This is of weight in the
consideration of the application, and weighs in favour of the proposed development.

6.10

On the balance of all considerations, the proposal is considered to maintain the diversity and
offer within the Town Centre and is considered to complement the vitality of the defined
centre. The proposed change of use is not considered to demonstrably impact the viability
of the Main Town Centre, with the resulting uses considered to complement the character of
the area. While the loss of the larger retail space is unfortunate, the proposal would retain a
commercial use on the ground floor, with the additional residential use on the upper floors
considered to be a complementary use within the Town Centre. The proposal is therefore
considered acceptable in principle, subject to all other material considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.11

Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the HDPF promote development that protects, conserves and
enhances the townscape character from inappropriate development. Proposal should take
into account townscape characteristics, with development seeking to provide an attractive,
functional and accessible environment that complements the locally distinctive character of
the district. Buildings should contribute to a sense of place, and should be of a scale,
massing, and appearance that is of a high standard or design and layout which relates
sympathetically to the landscape and built surroundings.

6.12

Policy HB3 of the draft Horsham Blueprint Business Plan states that development is
expected to preserve and enhance the Character Area in which it is located. The design
should take account of the local context and reflect the character and vernacular of the area,
using architectural variety in form and materials, in order to avoid building design that is
inappropriate to the Plan area.

6.13

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting;
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible.

6.14

The proposed development would involve a number of external alterations to replace certain
windows to the front, side, and rear elevations with upvc, the enlargement of a second floor
window to the rear elevation, and the installation of a door and external staircase to the first
floor on the rear elevation. Two roof lights are also proposed within the front roof slope.

Page 62

6.15

These alterations would maintain the proportions of the building, with the shop front retained
at ground level and the upper floor bay window feature and dormer also retained. While
recognised that the alterations and additions to the front elevation would be visible from the
public realm, it is considered that the overall proportions, detailing, character and appearance
of the building would be maintained. The proposed alterations are therefore considered to
appropriately reflect and reinforce the character and visual amenity of the street scene, and
would reflect similar features within the wider locality.

6.16

While recognised that the proposal would include the enlargement of a window to the rear
elevation, and the installation of a door and external staircase to the first floor, these features
would not be readily apparent from public view, and would generally be anticipated on a
building of this age and character. These additions and alterations are not therefore
considered to result in such harm to justify a reason for refusal on design grounds.

6.17

The proposed external alterations and additions are therefore considered to relate
sympathetically to the character and visual amenity of the subject building and wider street
scene, and are considered to accord with Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
Heritage Impacts

6.18

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF sets out that 'When considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or
development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should
require clear and convincing justification.'

6.19

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including where appropriate, securing
its optimum viable use.

6.20

This follows the requirements of s.66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990, which sets out that 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as
the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.'. In applying s.66, the identification of harm to a listed building or its
setting carries significant importance and weight in the planning balance.

6.21

Policy 34 of the HDPF states that development should be reinforce the special character of
the historic environment through appropriate siting, scale, form and design; and should make
a positive contribution to the character and distinctiveness of the area. Proposals should
preserve and ensure clear legibility of locally distinctive vernacular building forms and their
settings, features, fabric and materials.

6.22

Policy HB3 of the draft Horsham Blueprint Business Plan states that development should be
guided by conservation principles and should conserve those features identified as
contributing to the character of the area.

6.23

General Guidance 4 of the Horsham Town Plan states that proposals which protect and
enhance the heritage assets of the town centre and work within the constraints of the historic
core in a sensitive manner will be considered favourably.

Page 63

6.24

The application site is located within the designated Conservation Area of Horsham. The
building itself is not listed, but it does make a contribution to the character and setting of the
designated Conservation Area.

6.25

Following consultation with the Design and Conservation Officer, concerns were initially
raised regarding the replacement of the windows with upvc and the installation of roof lights
within the front roof slope. While these concerns are of weight in the consideration of the
current application, it is however recognised that upvc windows have recently been installed
to the immediate neighbouring properties, and these have replaced the original timber
framed windows. It is therefore considered to be unreasonable to object given the use of
upvc has been established within the locality, and specifically within this part of the
designated Conservation Area. On the balance of these considerations, it is therefore
considered that the use of upvc would be acceptable.

6.26

The Applicant has provided section and elevations of the replacement window, indicating the
bulk, proportions and nature of opening. Upon review, these details are considered
acceptable and are not considered to result in harm to the special character of the
Conservation Area.

6.27

It is noted that concerns have also been raised regarding the 2no. roof lights proposed to the
front roof slope. These would be located to the side of the pitched roof dormer feature, and
would provide natural light to the second bedroom and bathroom. While these roof lights
would be a new feature within the roofscape, the number and size of these rooflights are
considered to sit appropriately within the context, and would be of conservation style. The
roof lights are not therefore considered to appear overtly dominant and are considered to sit
proportionately within the roof scape. In addition, these features would not be relatively
apparent from immediate views, albeit that they could be seen from limited wider public
views. For these reasons, it is not considered that the proposed roof lights would result in
harm to the character of the designated Conservation Area, and are therefore, on balance,
considered acceptable.
Amenity Impacts

6.28

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive,
functional, accessible, safe, and adaptable environment that contribute a sense of place both
in the buildings and spaces themselves. Policy 33 continues that development shall be
required to ensure that it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of
occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.29

The application site comprises a mid-terraced property within the built-up area of Horsham.
The area is a mixed use of commercial and residential properties, with the immediate
neighbours comprising retail use on the ground floor and residential above.

6.30

The site is currently used for A3 (Restaurant and Café) purposes across all floors, subject of
planning approval DC/19/2063 (which initially sought A4 use of the premises also). At this
time, concerns were raised regarding potential noise and disturbance, with conditions
imposed relating to hours of operation, noise insulation, and the restriction of amplified music
and sound. These were necessary to protect the amenity of neighbouring residential
occupiers that share a party wall with the subject building.

6.31

Conditions 4 (use to be only A3 with ancillary A1 only), 5 (opening hours 8am to 9.30pm
Monday to Saturday and 9an to 5pm Sundays and Bank Holidays), and 6 (no playing of live
or amplified music) of the planning approval were subsequently appealed to the Planning
Inspectorate under appeal reference W/4001104. The Inspector dismissed the appeal,
concluding that the conditions were reasonable and necessary in the interests of protecting
the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers from unreasonable noise nuisance.

Page 64

6.32

While the current application no longer relates to the provision of an A4 (Drinking
Establishment) use over all floors of the building, the appeal decision provides a framework
to potential impacts of development on the neighbouring properties. The subject application
seeks to retain a commercial use on the ground floor, with the conversion of the first and
second floors to residential. Such uses would reflect those within the immediate surrounds,
and would bring the use of the building in line with the neighbouring properties, with the upper
floor residential flat now siting adjacent to other residential flats in the terrace. This is
considered to result in a benefit to the neighbouring residential occupiers, and would reduce
potential conflict through noise and disturbance.

6.33

It is however recognised that Use Class E now encompasses a wide variety of uses that
have the potential to result in noise and disturbance to residential occupiers. In particular,
the use of the building for a day nursery, gym or light industrial purposes, could increase
noise, activity and disturbance. Given the proximity to residential receptors within an aging
building that does not have high quality insulation between walls and floors, such uses are
not considered appropriate and a condition restricting those mentioned is considered
necessary. Furthermore, conditions restricting the hours of opening and the use of amplified
sound would be imposed to further limit potential conflict.

6.34

The mixed commercial and residential use is considered to better reflect the established
character of the area, and would be commensurate to uses within the terrace and wider
locality. The proposal is therefore considered to take appropriate account of the sensitivities
of neighbouring development, and subject to conditions limiting potential commercial uses
on the ground floor, is not considered to result in harm to the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers and users of land, in accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts

6.35

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.36

The proposal has been put forward with a nil parking provision. However, it is recognised
that the application site is located within the Main Town Centre, and is therefore within a
sustainable location. The site is located within walking and cycling distance to a range of
public services, amenities and employment options. Bus and rail links also provide a realistic
travel opportunity for longer trips. It would not therefore be anticipated that future occupiers
of the property would be overtly reliant on the use of a private motor vehicle.

6.37

Given this context, and in consideration of the available public car parks in the vicinity, it is
considered that there is reasoned justification to permit a nil provision of residential parking
spaces. On this basis, and in considering the context of the site and surroundings, it is not
considered that a reason for refusal on the grounds of parking could be justified.

Climate Change
6.38

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.39

Policy HB5 of the draft Horsham Blueprint Business Plan states that the design and standard
of any development is encouraged to achieve the highest level of sustainable design in order
to reduce energy consumption and climate effects.

Page 65

6.40

The proposed development includes the following measures to build resilience to climate
change and reduce carbon emissions:
-

6.41

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
-

6.42

Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.43

The application site is located within the built-up area boundary and within the Town Centre
boundary of Horsham Town. While the proposal would result in a reduced commercial floor
area, the proposal would maintain a commercial unit to the ground floor, with residential use
to the upper floors. This would reflect similar properties within the vicinity, and is considered
to maintain the diversity and offer within the Town Centre. The proposal is therefore
considered acceptable in principle.

6.44

Use Class E encompasses a wide variety of uses that have the potential to result in noise
and disturbance to residential occupiers. In considering the age of the building and the mixed
use character of the surroundings, it is considered necessary and reasonable to impose a
condition restricting the use of the building for uses within Class E, excluding indoor sport,
recreation and fitness, crèche, day nursery and day centre, or light industrial use. Subject to
such condition, the proposal is not considered to result in harm to the amenities and
sensitivities of the neighbouring properties, including the residential occupiers.

6.45

The proposed external alterations would respect and retain the special features and
character of the designated Conservation Area, and would not result in demonstrable harm
to the setting of the designated heritage asset. The proposal would reflect the character and
ambience of the mixed use area and would result in similar uses to the immediate
neighbouring properties. The proposal would not therefore result in harm to the amenities
and sensitivities of neighbouring properties.

6.46

While the proposal would result in a nil parking provision, it is recognised that the site is
located within a sustainable location and in close proximity to amenities and services, as well
as public transport offers. It is therefore considered that there are material considerations
that justify a nil parking provision.

6.47

The proposed development is therefore considered to accord with Policies 1, 2, 3, 9, 12, 13,
25, 32, 33, 34, 40, and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
6.48

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.

6.49

It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

Existing

Net Gain

District Wide Zone 1

79.4

79.4

0

Page 66

All Other Development

64.7

64.7

0

Total Gain
Total Demolition

6.50

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.

6.51

In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application subject to the following conditions.
Conditions:
1

Approved Plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been made for
that dwelling or use in accordance with drawing number PL04. These facilities shall
thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been constructed and made
available for use in accordance with approved drawing number PL04. The cycle
parking facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: The ground floor unit hereby permitted shall be used for
purposes falling within Class E (except for those uses falling within (d), (f) and (g)(iii)
of Class E) as defined in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987,
or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), only and for no other purpose.
Reason: Changes of use as permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order or Use Classes Order 1987 are not considered
appropriate in this case due to the proximity to neighbouring properties and the
economic benefit the approved use provides under Policies 12, 13 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 67

6

Regulatory Condition: The premises shall not be open for trade or business except
between the hours 0800 and 2130 Monday to Saturday and 0900 to 1700 on Sundays
and Bank / Public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no playing of live or amplified music, speech
or other amplified sound.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Regulatory Condition: The replacement window hereby approved shall strictly
accord with the design and details as shown on plan references PL07 and PL08.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail
in the interests of visual amenity and the setting of the designated Conservation Area,
and in accordance with Policies 33 and 34 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second
through full fibre broadband connection has been provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

Page 68

08) DC/21/0137
4 Park Place, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1DG

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

28/04/2021

Page 69MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

13 April 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use of the land and buildings for the blending, screening,
storage and distribution of landscape materials (Class Sui Generis).
Extension of an earth bund along the northern boundary and erection of
2.2m high wall to the western boundary.

SITE:

Lower Broadbridge Farm, Bury Hill Landscape Supplies Billingshurst Road
Broadbridge Heath RH12 3LR

WARD:

Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2126

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Coles Address: Lower Broadbridge Farm Bury Hill Landscape
Supplies Billingshurst Road Broadbridge Heath RH12 3LR

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: By request of Councillor Potter

RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks retrospective full planning permission for the change of use of the
buildings and associated yard area to allow for the blending, screening, storage, and
distribution of landscape materials. These buildings comprise former agricultural buildings,
with the bays of the barns used for the processing and storing of various landscape materials.
The larger building to the west is partly subdivided internally, with a number of the bays
outside of the control of the Applicant and utilised by the established enterprise of Horsham
Stone located to the west. The bays used by Horsham Stone are accessed from the west,
and runs as a separate and independent business from the Applicant’s enterprise.

1.3

The application also relates to the proposed extension of the existing yard area into the open
field to the north, along with the installation of an earth bund to the north and west of this field
to enclose the extended yard. The bund would extend to a height of 3m and is proposed to
be wild seeded, with additional landscaping also proposed along the field boundaries.

1.4

It is also proposed to erect a 2.2m high wall along part of the western boundary to separate
the extended yard area from the neighbouring Horsham Stone yard. The wall would comprise
sleepers and concrete.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 71

Tel: 01403 215166

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.5

The application site is located to the west of Billingshurst Road, immediately adjacent to, but
outside of the built-up area boundary of Broadbridge Heath. The site comprises a number of
former agricultural buildings which have most recently been used for light industrial and
storage purposes.

1.6

The site is located to the north of the dwelling known as Lower Broadbridge Farm and to the
west of the dwelling known as The Bungalow. The buildings benefit from areas of
hardstanding to the north and south, with the southern extent currently used for parking and
some outside storage.

1.7

The larger of the subject buildings has been subdivided internally, with a number of the bays
occupied by the neighbouring enterprise of Horsham Stone, which benefits from a yard area
and second unit to the west of the application site. This operates independently from the
application site, with access provided to the west of the buildings.

1.8

The wider surroundings are characterised by open countryside to the north and west, with
the dense residential development of Charrington Way located to the east, and separated by
mature vegetation and the A281.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities

Page 72

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
2.5

Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan
Policy 3: Green Infrastructure
Policy 5: Development Principles
Policy 11: Existing Employment Centres
Policy 12: Economy and Enterprise

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SF/57/03

Change of use of building to B1 and B8 and storage of
motor vehicles

Application Permitted on
29.04.2004

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Landscape Architect: Verbal Comments
Concerns that the 3m high bund may equate to an unnatural and substantial barrier that is
uncharacteristic to the character of the area, and may be prominent in views from the various
public footpaths. However, this would need to be considered against the public benefit arising
through noise mitigation.
Additional hedgerow trees should be secured and planted to match the existing vegetated
boundaries and the existing landscape character.

3.3

HDC Conservation: No Objection
Impact to the setting of designated assets can arise from noise, vibration and perception of
activity, not only visual intrusion. The current use of the wider site as a stone yard and building
materials supplier does result in large vehicle movements and noise from the heavy lifting
activities. Given this context, the proposed development is not considered to perceptibly add
to the existing background noise or perception of activity to the point where harm will be
experienced. Furthermore, the extended bund is not considered to be intervisible with the
Listed Building and would be beyond the immediate setting so that it would not be directly
harmful. No objections to the proposed development have therefore been raised on heritage
grounds.

3.4

HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
No Objection subject to conditions to limit activities within the building and use of the
extended yard for storage of pallets and unladen vehicles only. Conditions also required for
deliveries, working hours, construction hours and use.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.5

WSCC Highways (Initial Response : More information requested
Whilst the applicant has provided information regarding the number of vehicles used for
activities on-site, it is not clear if the proposed enlargement of the yard will increase the
activities of the site. If there is an intensification of use, this may impact accessibility into the
site.

Page 73

A review of the existing highway network shows access is taken from the A281 and is wide
enough to accommodate an HGV turning in and out. Visibility is also considered to be good.
The access track is privately owned, and a review of WSCC highway plans suggest this is
not wide enough for two large vehicles to pass however; this will only be an issue if vehicles
are required to pass each other. If numbers are low, or movements are tidal in nature, this
may not be of concern.
3.6

WSCC Highways (Subsequent Response dated 28 April 2021): No Objection
It seems the maximum number of daily trips is 62 which would be 31 in and 31 out. Given
this is not all going to occur within the same hour of the day this number of trips does not
create a significant use of the highway which would be over and above the thresholds for
concern.
WSCC would like to point out that forward visibility at the junction of the A281 and the private
access road seems to be hindered by vegetation and as such the applicant should ensure
this is kept cut back at all times to ensure good forward visibility into the access.
Overall the access itself is wide enough to accommodate the types of vehicles using the site,
forward visibility is good, and the access road has a passing place approx. 70m into the
access road.
In line with NPPF this proposal should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe. The trips created by this proposal will not do
this and therefore WSCC raise no objection.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.7

Broadbridge Heath Parish Council: No Objection
No objection in principle, but request adequate conditions to ensure that all works on site are
conducted during normal business hours, and any activities or operations involving
significant noise emissions are controlled accordingly. This should include adequate respite
for near neighbours in Broadbridge Heath so that disturbance is kept to a minimum, in
particular during early evening and/or weekends.

3.8

Slinfold Parish Council: No Objection
No objection in principle, but request standard hours of operation to ensure respectful respite.

3.9

Two letters of objection were received which highlighted concerns regarding noise and
disturbance, as well as impact on the enjoyment of private garden spaces due to this noise.

3.10

Two letters of support were received and these can be summarised as follows:
-

Offered local employment and the expansion would allow for further employment
Still appears like a farm and remains aesthetically pleasing
Would allow a business to thrive in an environmentally friendly way

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 74

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks retrospective full planning permission for the change of use of the land
and buildings to allow for the blending, screening, storage, and distribution of landscape
materials. Permission is also sought to extend an existing yard area to the north, with the
extension of an earth bund to the northern and west to enclose this extended yard.
Principle of Development:

6.2

Policy 10 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that sustainable rural
economic development and enterprise within the district will be encouraged in order to
generate local employment opportunities and economic, social and environmental benefits
for local communities. In the countryside, development which maintains the quality and
character of the area, whilst sustaining its varied and productive social and economic activity
will be supported in principle. Any development should be appropriate to the countryside
location and must: contribute to the diverse and sustainable farming enterprises within the
district or, in the case of other countryside-based enterprises and activities, contribute to the
wider rural economy and/or promote recreation in, and the enjoyment of, the countryside;
and either be contained wherever possible within suitably located buildings which are
appropriate for conversion or, in the case of an established rural industrial estate, within the
existing boundaries of the estate; or result in substantial environmental improvement and
reduce the impact on the countryside. New buildings or development in the rural area will be
acceptable provided that it supports sustainable economic growth towards balanced living
and working communities.

6.3

In addition, Policy 26 of the HDPF states that outside built-up area boundaries, the rural
character and undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against inappropriate
development. Any proposal must be essential to its countryside location, and in addition meet
one of the following criteria: support the needs of agriculture or forestry; enable the extraction
of minerals of the disposal of waste; provide for quiet informal recreational use; or enable the
sustainable development of rural areas. In addition, proposal must be of a scale appropriate
to its countryside character and location Development will be considered acceptable where
it does not lead, either individually or cumulatively, to a significant increase in the overall level
of activity in the countryside, and protects, and/or conserves, and/or enhances, the key
features and characteristics of the landscape character area in which it is located.

6.4

Policy 12 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan states that proposals which enable the
development or enhancement of small scale businesses will be supported where schemes
are within the built-up area boundary; or are contained within existing buildings; or are on
previously developed land; or are in appropriate locations in the countryside. In addition,
proposals will be supported where development does not involve the loss of dwellings, and
they are in keeping with the character and vitality of the local area.

6.5

The use of a number of the buildings for B1 and B8 purposes was initially permitted under
planning approval SF/57/03, with a later application under planning reference DC/17/0953
permitting storage and distribution uses on the wider site. The proposal seeks to regularise
the uses now taking place on the land, which have been in operation since 2017, and
includes a number of commercial processes that fall outside the previous use classes.

6.6

Bury Hill Landscape Supplies Ltd supply and sell a wide range of high quality, contaminate
free top-soils, landscape materials, logs, selected aggregates, and decorative stone. The

Page 75

associated activities involve the storage of these materials, as well as the blending of certain
materials which are then sold. The machinery used in association with the operation includes
6 forklifts, 6 HGVs, and 4 telehandlers, with deliveries predominantly undertaken during
working hours, albeit that 3no. pre-loaded HGVs leave the site daily at 4am. A total of 20
people are employed by the business and normal working hours are 07.30 to 18:30 Monday
to Friday and 07:30 to 16:00 on Saturdays.
6.7

The proposal is considered to provide economic and social benefits to the local and wider
rural economy, and is considered to be a beneficial use for the former agricultural buildings.
It is recognised that the application site previously benefitted from business uses, with the
proposal seeking to regularise a number of activities that fall outside of the permitted uses.
Given the previous planning approvals it is considered that the principle of commercial and
business uses have been established on the site, with the proposal considered to contribute
to sustainable economic growth.

6.8

It is however noted that the proposal also seeks to extend an existing yard area into an
undeveloped field. While new development that supports sustainable economic growth is
generally supported, any proposal should be appropriate to its countryside location and seek
to reduce the impact on the countryside. The economic benefits arising from the proposal
therefore need to be balanced against the resulting impact on the countryside.
Landscape Impact and Visual Amenity:

6.9

Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the HDPF promote development that protects, conserves and
enhances the landscape character from inappropriate development. Proposal should take
into account landscape characteristics, with development seeking to provide an attractive,
functional and accessible environment that complements the locally distinctive character of
the district. Buildings should contribute to a sense of place, and should be of a scale,
massing, and appearance that is of a high standard or design and layout which relates
sympathetically to the landscape and built surroundings.

6.10

Policy 3 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals will be
supported where they protect and retain, and wherever possible, enhance public rights of
way and their setting; hedgerows; copses and woods. Policy 5 states that development
proposals which seek to respect the design, density and layout of the surrounding area will
be supported.

6.11

The proposal seeks to regularise the use of a number of existing buildings on the site, which
were formerly used for agricultural and commercial purposes, with the retention of an area
to the north and south of these buildings for open storage and parking purposes. These areas
are primarily located within the established boundaries of the site, albeit that the yard areas
are partially located outside of the defined curtilage of the previous planning approval. The
proposal also seeks to extend the area of hardstanding to the north, with the installation of
an earth bund around the perimeter of this enlarged yard area to the north and east. The
extended yard would encompass the field to the north of the existing buildings, and would
extend in line with the northern-most built form of Broadbridge Heath to the east of the A281.

6.12

The application site is located within the Upper Arun Valley (P1) Landscape Character Area.
The main characteristics of this Character Area includes mostly narrow valleys with
undulating valley sides and lush valley bottoms, along with small drained irregularly shaped
pastures. The character of the area is mostly rural and unspoilt, except for urban edge
influence around Horsham and some road and aircraft noise in places. The overall character
includes small irregular field patterns and unimproved pastures, with the key issues including
a decline in traditional land management. The overall sensitivity to change is high, with
planning and land management guidelines seeking to conserve the open character of the
floodplain and ensure any small scale development on the valley sides respects the historic

Page 76

settlement pattern, form and building materials, and is integrated into the existing landscape
pattern.
6.13

The application site lies on the perimeter of the built-up area boundary of Broadbridge Heath,
and acts as a transitional space between the higher density residential development to the
east and the lower density, sporadic development of the wider countryside to the north and
west. The site itself is relatively open to the adjacent agricultural land to the north and west,
albeit that the site is contained by the public footpath that extends along the respective
boundaries. Therefore, while the subject field is viewed in connection with the adjacent fields,
it is experienced as a separate and defined parcel. Furthermore, it is recognised that the
agricultural field is experienced in the context of the urban and utilitarian influences of the
previous agricultural and commercial uses, which themselves have altered the landscape
character of the area. The character of the area is therefore now primarily defined by the
commercial and industrial activity taking place within the site, albeit that the site remains
open to the wider countryside and retains some visual and physical relationship with it.

6.14

The re-use of the existing buildings would bring these buildings into beneficial use, and given
the established nature of these structures, is not considered to result in landscape harm or
detrimental visual impact. No objections are therefore raised in regard to the use of the
existing building and existing hardstanding.

6.15

It is however recognised that the proposed extension to the existing yard could impact the
landscape character and visual amenity. The proposed extension would bring the yard area
in closer proximity to the adjacent public footpath to the north, with the introduction of a bund
around the perimeter.

6.16

The Applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVIA) dated March 2021 to
address potential landscape impact. This outlines that the visibility of the site is primarily
influenced by its relatively well enclosed location, with the existing yard to the south curtailing
all views from this direction and the woodland belt flanked by the A281 providing a visual
barrier along the eastern side of the site. Longer distance views are available from land to
the north, although the woodland belt combined with the relative lack of residential properties
or publicly accessible locations in this area means that views are limited. The longest
distance views towards the site are available from higher land to the northwest, from land to
the west, and to a lesser extent, from land to the southwest. These views are from public
footpaths, although the presence of woodland belts, hedgerows, and small woodland blocks
helps to curtail views to some extent, as does distance.

6.17

The LVIA considers that the former agricultural land across the proposed yard extension area
is typical of the character of the landscape to the immediate north and west, and is
unremarkable. It is of limited landscape quality and does not make a unique or special
contribution to the local landscape character. While the character of the proposed yard area
would alter from an open agricultural field to a busier and active operational yard bounded
by an earth bund, the proximity of the existing yard and its current influence on the character
of the adjacent field, would mean that long term effects on character are considered to be of
apparent but relatively limited significance; and this will reduce over time. While the grassed
bund would be a new feature, the shallow outer slope gradient and rounded top will help to
integrate it into the surroundings. It is concluded that the proposed development would result
in negligible and minor adverse impacts on the landscape character, with the installation of
the bund considered to lessen the visual prominence of the extended yard from wider public
views.

6.18

The LVIA suggests mitigation measures to limit the visual impact of the proposal, and this
includes wild seeding the bund and the planting of additional naïve hedgerows along the field
boundaries of the site, including that directly adjacent to the public footpath. This area is
within the ownership of the Applicant and could be secured through a Grampian style
condition.

Page 77

6.19

The site is relatively well enclosed, with visibility from the immediate surroundings limited by
the mature vegetation and screening along the field perimeter. Wider public views into the
site are possible from the north and west, where the site and associated agricultural field are
not only read in the context of the former farmstead, but also in the context of the residential
dwellings and industrial units to the east of the A281, which can be glimpsed along the
horizon. The site is therefore read and understood against the backdrop of established built
form. Given this context, the site and associated agricultural field is perceived as urban fringe
and is understood within the context of the intermittent views of the built-up area and
associated built form to the far east. Therefore, while the agricultural field shares a visual
relationship with the wider countryside, it is most readily understood in the context of the
former farmstead and urban development beyond, and this impacts upon the contribution the
field makes to the wider landscape character of the area.

6.20

The extended yard area would sit within the defined field boundaries, with the proposed earth
bund to the perimeter seeking to limit the perception of the yard and associated paraphernalia
from wider views. While this would urbanise and formalise the previously undeveloped field,
the proposal would be read in the context of the existing farmstead and built-up area of
Broadbridge Heath to the east, and would be relatively well-enclosed by the existing field
boundaries. Additional native planting is proposed to mitigate the visual impact of the yard
area, with the shallow gradient of the earth bund also seeking to integrate the addition into
the surroundings.

6.21

While these interventions would alter the landform characteristics in the locality, resulting in
some harm to the landscape character, it is not considered that the extension of the yard
would result in substantial harm to the landscape character of the area to justify a reason for
refusal. The proposal would result in economic and social benefits to the rural economy and
local community, and these benefits are considered to outweigh the limited harm arising to
the landscape character of the area.

6.22

On the balance of all considerations, the proposed development is therefore considered
acceptable, with the proposed landscape enhancement considered to mitigate the visual
presence of the proposed yard area. For these reasons, the proposal is considered to accord
with Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Heritage Impacts:

6.23

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF sets out that 'When considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or
development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should
require clear and convincing justification.'

6.24

This follows the requirements of s.66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990, which sets out that 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as
the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.'. In applying s.66, the identification of harm to a listed building or its
setting carries significant importance and weight in the planning balance.

6.25

Policy 34 of the HDPF states that development should be reinforce the special character of
the historic environment through appropriate siting, scale, form and design; and should make
a positive contribution to the character and distinctiveness of the area. Proposals should
preserve and ensure clear legibility of locally distinctive vernacular building forms and their
settings, features, fabric and materials.

Page 78

6.26

Following consultation with the Design and Conservation Officer, it is outlined that impact to
the setting of designated assets can arise from noise, vibration and perception of activity, not
just visual intrusion. The current use of the wider site as a stone yard and building materials
supplier does result in large vehicle movements and noise from the heavy lifting activities,
and given this context, the proposed development is not considered to perceptibly add to the
existing background noise or perception of activity to the point where harm will be
experienced. Furthermore, the extended bund is not considered to be intervisible with the
Listed Building, and would be beyond the immediate setting so that it would not be directly
harmful. No objections to the proposed development have therefore been raised on heritage
grounds.
Amenity Impacts:

6.27

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive,
function, accessible, safe and adaptable environment that contributes a sense of place both
in the buildings and spaces themselves, and in the way they integrate with their surroundings.
Policy 33 of the HDPF requires development to be designed to ensure that it avoids
unacceptable harm to the amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.28

The application site is located to the north of the residential dwelling of Lower Broadbridge
Farm, and to the west of the residential dwellings located along Charrington Way. A dense
line of vegetation separates the site from the nearby residential properties to the east, with
the wider area predominantly comprising flat and open countryside. It is recognised that the
proposed operations have the potential to impact upon the occupiers and users of nearby
property and land, but this must be balanced against the existing level of activity established
by the previous planning approval.

6.29

It is understood that a number of statutory noise complaints have been received regarding
the operations taking place from the application site, with a number of objections to the
application also received in this respect. Upon discussion with the Environmental Health
Officer, it is understood that these noise complaints arose following the use of a hopper which
was used to blend materials on the site. This has been confirmed through a Noise Impact
Assessment conducted on behalf of the Applicant, and this activity has since ceased, with
the Applicant outlining that a different processing method has been identified which results
in less noise. The Applicant therefore considers that the existing operation does not result in
such level of noise and disturbance to be considered harmful. However, in order to address
potential noise intrusion caused by the extended yard area to the north, a bund is proposed
around the perimeter of the site. This has been designed in order to mitigate some of the
noise generated by the associated activities arising from the intended use.

6.30

The current application has sought to address potential noise impacts through the addition
of a 3m bund that would extend around the existing and extended yard area to the north of
the subject buildings. This would mitigate noise intrusion to the nearby residential properties,
and when coupled with the existing mature vegetation along the eastern boundary, would act
as an acoustic barrier, further limiting noise intrusion.

6.31

Following discussion with the Environmental Health Officer, the development would
incorporate a significant expansion to the open-air storage area to the north. This has the
potential to intensify activity, noise and disturbance generated from the site, which given the
proximity of residential properties to the site, could result in harm. In order to address these
concerns, it is considered that the noise generating activity (i.e. the blending and screening
of materials) should take place within the building, with the enlarged yard area used for the
storing of pallets and unladen vehicles only. This should be secured by condition to ensure
that the activities take place in the buildings only, with the extended yard area used for the
storage and loading of finished and unfinished products only

Page 79

6.32

Further controls, including restrictions of deliveries, opening/working hours, construction
hours, and nature of use would also be secured through condition to protect the amenities of
the nearby residential properties. The proposed bund, when coupled with the restrictive
conditions is considered to appropriately mitigate against any potential noise and
disturbance, with the resulting development not considered to result in significant harm to the
amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties and users of land to justify a reason
for refusal.

6.33

It is also recognised that concerns have been raised that the operations undertaken at the
application site and neighbouring site of Horsham Stone are cumulatively intensifying noise
and disturbance to the neighbouring properties along Charrington Way. While potential
cumulative impacts are noted, it is considered that the conditions as recommended would
appropriately reduce potential amenity conflict, with the proposed bund offering sufficient
mitigation that would further reduce potential noise intrusion to the nearest neighbouring
properties. On this basis, it is not considered that the proposal would result in significant
cumulative impact to justify a reason for refusal on amenity grounds.
Highways Impacts:

6.34

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.35

The previous planning approval under SF/57/03 established the existing access to the southeast of the site, with the permission conditional on operational works to widen the access.
These works were completed, and while the access drive is not wide enough to allow two
vehicles to pass, does provide suitable access and turning for HGVs.

6.36

Following consultation with WSCC Highways, it has been queried whether the use would
attract greater traffic movements that that previously arising from the former B1 and B8 uses.
The Applicant has provided further information confirming that the trips generated are similar
to that likely arising from the previous permitted uses, with no evidence to suggest that the
existing access is not functioning appropriately.

6.37

WSCC Highways have reviewed this additional information and confirm that the number of
trips would not create a significant use of the highway over and above the thresholds of
concern. The access itself is considered wide enough to accommodate the types of vehicles
using the site, and forward visibility is considered good. WSCC Highways have therefore
raised no objection.

6.38

Given these considerations, the proposed development is not considered to result in
significant intensification of vehicle movements beyond the previous use. It is considered that
there is sufficient space on-site for turning, with the proposed yard considered to provide
sufficient space for parking.

6.39

It is therefore considered that the proposal would accord with Policies 40 and 41 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Climate change:

6.40

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. Should the application be
approved, the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions would be secured through condition:

Page 80

6.41

Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Refuse and recycling storage
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusions:

6.42

The principle of commercial development on the site was established under planning
approval SF/57/03, where the reuse of the redundant farm buildings for a mix of B1 and B2
uses was approved. The current application seeks to change the use of these buildings and
land within the wider ownership for the screening and blending of materials and associated
yard, in connection with a local landscape business. This use is commercial in nature, albeit
that it does not fall within any of the defined Use Classes within the Use Classes Order; and
is therefore sui generis. The use would contribute to rural economic development and would
thereby contribute to the wider rural economy, and would support a commercial need on an
established industrial site within the District. The development is therefore considered
acceptable in principle, subject to all other material considerations.

6.43

It is recognised that the proposed development, and specifically the extension of the yard,
would result in the loss of an agricultural field immediately adjacent to the established site.
This field is read in the context of the wider countryside to the north and west, and the
residential dwellings and industrial units comprising the built-up area of Broadbridge Heath
to the east. The site therefore lies within the urban fringe, with the site also understood in the
context of the former farmstead when experienced from wider landscape views. The
agricultural field is relatively well-defined by the mature vegetation to the east and north, with
these boundary treatments also reducing the perception of the site from the adjacent public
footpath. Given this context, it is not considered that the proposal would result in substantial
harm to the landscape character of the area, with the proposed landscape enhancements
considered to further reduce the visual impact and presence of the development.

6.44

A number of objections have been received in respect of the potential noise and disturbance
arising from the commercial use. Following discussion with the Environmental Health Officer,
methods of control have been suggested, to be secured by condition, to overcome potential
amenity impacts. In particular, restrictions on the type of activities taking place within the
open yard area is considered necessary, with other restrictions relating to deliveries and
working hours also considered necessary to reduce noise and disturbance to nearby
residential properties. Subject to such conditions, the proposed development is not
considered to result in harm to the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties or
users of land.

6.45

The proposed development is not considered to result in a significant intensification of vehicle
movements beyond the previous use, with the established access considered adequate for
intended users. There is sufficient space on-site for turning, with the proposed yard
considered to provide sufficient space for parking. The proposal is therefore considered to
provide safe and acceptable access and parking suitable for all users.

6.46

The proposal would result in economic and social benefits to the rural economy and local
community, and these benefits are considered to outweigh the limited harm arising to the
landscape character of the area. Therefore, on the balance of all considerations, the
proposed development is considered acceptable, and is considered to accord with all
relevant local and national planning policies.

Page 81

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
6.47

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.

6.48

It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

All Other Development

Existing

2686.8

Net Gain

2686.8

0

Total Gain
Total Demolition

6.49

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.

6.50

In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application subject to the following conditions.
Conditions:
1

Plans list

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until vehicle
wheel-cleaning facilities have been installed at the site entrance(s). The vehicle
wheel-cleaning facilities shall be retained in working order and operated throughout
the period of work on the site to ensure that vehicles do not leave the site carrying
earth and mud on their wheels in a quantity which causes a nuisance, hazard or
visual intrusion from material deposited on the road system in the locality.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of road safety and visual
amenity in accordance with Policies 33 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: Within 6 months of the date of the permission hereby
granted, details of secure [and covered] cycle parking facilities for the occupants of,
and visitors to, the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. No building hereby permitted shall be occupied or
use hereby permitted commenced until the approved cycle parking facilities
associated with that building or use have been fully implemented and made available
for use. The provision for cycle parking shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 82

5

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays
and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or
public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Regulatory Condition: The landscaping scheme as outlined within the Landscape
and Visual Appraisal dated March 2121 by DB Landscape Consultancy shall be fully
implemented in accordance with the approved details within the first planting season
following the first occupation of any part of the development. Unless otherwise
agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be
wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous
written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the
development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is
removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: The buildings shaded in grey and labelled as "Existing
Bagging Plant Operation" on plan drawing BLS/2020/MK1 rev A shall be used for the
purposes of blending, screening, and storage of landscape materials only. At no
times shall the manufacturing operations hereby permitted take place outside of the
buildings.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby neighbouring properties and in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Regulatory Condition: The extended yard area to the north, as referenced on plan
drawing BLS/2020/MK2 shall be used for the storage of pallets and parked unladen
vehicles only, and shall not be used for the storage of any finished or unfinished
product or material. Any pallets stored/stacked in this area shall not exceed a total
height of 3m.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby neighbouring properties and in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Regulatory Condition: The premises shall not be open for trade or business except
between the hours of 8:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 09:00 and 13:00 on
Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays or Public and Bank Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: No deliveries associated with the development hereby
approved shall take place except between the hours of 8:00 and 18:00 Monday to
Friday and 09:00 and 13:00 on Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays or Public and
Bank Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 83

11

Regulatory Condition: No externally located plant or equipment shall be installed or
operated without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority by way of
formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby residential properties and users
of land and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/2126

Page 84

09) DC/20/2126
Lower Broadbridge Farm, Billingshurst Road, Broadbridge Heath,
RH12 3LR

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

28/04/2021

Page 85MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

